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SLAVE TRADE, SIERRA LEONE.

 

RETURN to an Address to HIS Mums", dated 7 March 1832 ;—fl:r,

Copy of a CHARGE delivered by Mr. Chief Justice Jefi'cott to the GRAND JU RY

of Sierra Leone, on the Subject of the SLAVE TRADE in that Colony, with any

Correspondence thereon.

Downing-street, R.‘ W. H A Y.
Colonial Department, }

5 April 1832.

 

S C H E D U L E.
No.
1.-—EXTRACT of a Despatch from Lieut.-Gov. Findlay to R. W. Hay, Eeq.; dated Sierra

Leone, 20 June 1830 - - . - - - . . . . . P-i-

m—EX'FRACT of a Despatch from Secretary Sir George Murray to Lieut-Gov. Findlay;

dated Downing—street, 26 October 1830 - - - - - - . p, 6.

3.—-EXTRACT of a Despatch from Lieut.-Gov. Findlay to Viscount Goderich; dated

Sierra Leone, 29 June 1831 - - - . - . - - - p. 3_

4.—COPY of a Despatch from Viscount Goderich to LieuL-Gov. Findlay; dated

Downinystreet, 18 January 1832 - - - - - . . - p, 33.

 

—— No. l. ——

EXTRACT of a DESPATCH from Lieutenant-Govemor Endlay,

to R. 14’. Hay, Esq.; dated Sierra Leone, 20 June 1830.

I ENCLOSE to you a Copy of his Honour the Chief Justice Jqfl‘cott’s Speech

to the G RAND J unv, at the Sessions held on 2d June, which I trust ultimately

will have a.good efl'ect on the inhabitants of this Colony.

 

SUBSTANCE o£ a CHARGE delivered to the GRAND JURY, at the General Quarter

Sessions of the Peace, and General Gaol Delivery for the Colony of Sierra Leone,

held at Freetown, on Wednesday the 2d J une 1830, and subsequent days, by John

William Jgfi‘cott, Esq. His Majesty’s Chief J ustice, and Judge of the Vice-Admiralty

Court, 8w. Ste. 8w.

 

Gentlemen of the Grand Jury,

IF I came before you under the ordinary circumstances in which every new Chief Justice

has to address you,—-if I had merely to call your attention to the state of the Calendar, and

to advert, in eneml terms, to the nature of the duties which, in your capacity of Grand

Jurors, you Will have to perform—I should, even under these ordinary circumstances, have

uite sufficient to engage my attention, and .to impress upon me the great responsibility of

file office which I hold.
You cannot however, Gentlemen, be ignorant that I have come amongst you under pecu-

liar circumstances—circumstances, suchae none of my redeeessors have had to contend

with—circumstances. unprecedented in this Colony, an such as, I confidently hope and

trust, may never occur again. ' . . .

'You cannot be ignorant that the circumstances to which I ullude, have arisen out of the

distracted state of the Colony previous to my arrival ;. and, while I have every disposxtiou to

divest myself of an thing approachina to as rity while speakinfiaof this unfortunatepenod,

I feel that I shoul be desertin my (Inty, i I did not from this ench, and upon this occa-

sion, address the inhabitants 0 this Colony with reference to what has_ occurred, in the

language ofearnest, yet fn'endly remonstrance: I say the inhabitants of this Colony,because

I hope that through you, Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, what I say my go forth to the

communit at large, and be productive of that which must be the annous Wish of every

man who as their real welfare at heart—the prevention of similar occurrences in future.

364. I could
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I could not have been unaware, upon leaving England, that the affairs of this Colony had

been plunged into a state of anarchy and confusion which, if lon%er persrsted in, would

uire the strong hand of 1e l authority to coerce and control. . could not.have been

unaware that proceedin ha taken place which were calculated, 1f persmted m, to Over.

throw all the establishe landmarks of civilized society and legitimate government.

I was made aware of this state of things but a very short time before I left England; and

althoucrh, from my habits and disposition, I could willingly have chosen a more congenial

office an one which must necessarily bring me into the midst of a divnded community, still,

having accepted of the appointment which His Majesty had heen graciously pleased to

bestow upon me, I came here pre ared to do my duty fairly and impartially, Without favour

or affection, to the best of my abi ity, and equally prepared to meet any conse uences which

mi ht result from the resolute discharge of that duty. I say, I came prepare to meet any

- suc consequences; because I felt that I came armed with that authority to which every

English subject hows, conscious that in his implicit ohedience to its decrees, he possesses

the best security for his own rights—I mean the authority qf the Law. _

Armed with that authority I arrived here, accompanying our new_ Governor, wrth whose

character, from his long residence upon the Western Coast of Africa, you must, most of
you, be ourselves well acquainted, and upon which it is not therefore necessary, nor would

it indeed, be decorous in me to dwell, further than to say, that from what I both witnessed

and heard of his mild, yet efficient administration of the Settlement of the Gambia, I had

every hope, in accompanying him here, that we should be enabled, b our united efforts, to

restore peace and unanimity to this distracted and div1ded Colony. n this hope, I trust we
shall not be disappointed; but, if we should unfortunately be so, we shall at least have the

consolation of reflecting, that, in the first instance, we tried the mildest mode of securing

obedience to the laws, and that if strong measures should at length be deemed necessary,
they will, as far as the Government is concerned, he the offspring of necessity, not choice,
and be as defensible as they will be unavoidable.
Whether the disputes to which I have alluded, have originated with the European or

Coloured inhabitants, I will not now stop to inquire. The matter may possibl be inves-
tigated in another place. Nor is such an inquiry necessary to the object whic I have in
.view—the repression of such disputes in future.

There are, I am well aware—such is human nature—to be found amongst all classes and

colours, discontented individuals, with just sufficient talent to make others as discontented

as themselves; and who, at the same time, are utterly reckless of the consequences naturally

resulting from their discontent, and, I may add, disloyalty. I had ho ed, however, that the

strong expression of disapprobation which had been conveyed by His ajesty’s Government
with reference to the proceedings that took place here, and which the Governor was directed

to communicate to the inhabitants, through the medium of a proclamation, would have

convinced the most incredulous that the time for dissension has passed. But I regret to
say, that I have heard since my arrival, that the seeds of disunion. are not yet eradicated—

that the flame of discontent, although partiall extinguished, still smoulders in the breasts of
some ;-and that ersons are yet to be found In this Colon who, notwithstanding the disap-

probation to which I have just alluded, persist in defending the illegal conduct they have

pursued—maintain that they were right—afi'ect to believe that their acts will still be approved
of from home——and moreover say, that were they again placed in a similar situation, they

, would act a similar part. To such persons I would say emphatically BEWARE! Errors
which are the result of ignorance or misconception may be passed over; but hereafter,
neither in those who counsel a re tition of the transactions which have lately taken place
here, and which have called for t e just animadversion of His Majesty’s Government, nor
in those who would adopt such pernicious counsel, can the plea of ignorance or miscon-
ception be admitted. .

I have already from this Bench, upon another occasion, considered it my duty to declare,
that all the acts which had taken place here from the period of the 18th of December last,
when, by means which I shall not now characterize, a change was attempted to be efl'ected
in the constitution of this Colony, and a usurpation of its government took place, to that of
the arrival of Lieutenant-Governor Findlay, were illegal. I now repeat that declaration;
and I again say to those who would . venture to hint at the revival of an experiment, which
has been once tried with comparative impunity, to beware. Do the inhabitants of this
Colony, I would ask, value their Charter? Have the a just appreciation of the blessings
which they enjoy, in being made the partakers of filitish laws and British institutions?
I have no doubt the will answer in the affirmative. I have no doubt that they have a just
appreciation of the enefits they enjoy, and the privileges which have been conferred upon
them; and, with this conviction on my mind, I conjure them—I warn them—not to lend
themselves again to a s stem of conduct which may lend to the curtailment of privileges
that, by such conduct, ey would prove themselves unworthy to retain.
Of 1: e illegality of the measures which accompanied and succeeded the departure of your

late Governor, enough has been said to convince the least reflecting man, that any attempt
at a repetition of them, would bring down the serious displeasure and indignation of the
Mother Country upon this Colonv—a Colony which has been the fruit of her fostering care
——the result of er benevolent aspirations for the benefit of mankind,——ol' aspirations which,
I am sorry to say, have hitherto been but feebly answered—and of hopes which a per-
severance In your dissensions must crush and bli ht for ever!
How little,.l would ask, do the advocates of estern Africa in England, know of the

passions which have lately tornand convulsed this Colony, from one end of it to the otllier?
OW
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How little are those benevolent spirits, who have supported the cause of African improve-

ment “ through evrl report and good report," and who have urged their fellow-count men
to expend that blood and treasure In its behalf, aware of the species of gratitude whic has
been exhibited in return? Think you, I would ask, Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, that

England will persevere in her exertions for the good of this Colony, if the only return which

she obtains, is a reiteration of complaint upon complaint, without one useful plan or object
ori inatin with the colonists themselves?

am le to this remark from observing, since my arrival here, the great apathy which

revails, with reference to two most useful objects which have originated with the Colonial

Government, and to one of which in particular the attention of the inhabitants has been
repeatedly drawn, and the necessity of heartily co-operating in it impressed upon them again
and again, without, I am sorry to say, any thing like a corresponding effect.

I allude, in the first instance, to the draining of your streets, and the burning of the sur-

rounding bush. The regulations which, from time to time, have emanated from the

Governor and Council, having for theit object the preservation of the health of the inhabi-
tants, appear to have been altogether disregarded, and the Acts by which they were sought

to be enforced, have fallen into disuse or become a dead letter.

And what, I would ask, have been the aim and object of such Acts, and such regulations?

To what end have they tended 1’ To the benefit and advantage of all.
By clearing your streets, you preserve your health, that reatest of all blessings. By

neglecting to do so, you admit into the Colony contagion an death, by which so many of
our Governors, and other valuable officers, have successively been swept away, and all the

plans which they entertained for the eneral good of the Colony, have been prematurely
checked—many of them, it is to be cared, never to be resumed. Thus, by the neglect of

those whose duty it is to see those municipal regulations carried into effect, injury incal-
culable, irremediable injury, is entailed upon the whole community.

I know that an opinion prevails amongst the native, and some of the coloured inhabitants

of the Colony, that the same local causes which produce disease amongst the Europeans, do

not 9. ply to them ;-as if this were any reason that they should relax in the performance of

a tasilg, enjoined by every motive of humanity and public duty. I would, however, refer
those who entertain this most erroneous opinion, to the last fatal season, when the undis-

criminatinor hand of fate pressed equally upon all— the rich as well as the poor, the native
and the coloured man, as well as the European. And without entering further into this

subject, I am sure it must be obvious to every reflecting mind, that the clearing and drain-

ing of the streets, and the burning of the surrounding bush, are absolutely essential to the
preservation of health—to the welfare, and, I may add, to the existence of the Colony.
Such bein the case, I say that the regulations which have been determined on by the

Governor an Council, and which will be laid before you in the course of the Sessions, must

be enforced; and if a strict compliance with them be longer delayed, means must be

adopted to compel that obedience which ought to be afforded willingly, and which it ought
to require no exertion of authority to secure. It is really, Gentlemen, a most painful reflec-
tion, that after the rofuse and lavish waste of British capital and British life, in and upon

the objects of this olony, so little appears to have been done; and that that which is in pro-

gress, should be constantly retarded, on the one hand, by the paltry squabbles and undig-

nified disputes of those who ought peculiarly to labour, heart and hand, in the common

cause; and on-the other, by the apathy and indolence of the great mass of the native inha-
bitants. who will not exert alittle labour to prevent that pro erty, which in many instances
they hold upon the easy tenure of exerting a little labour, om becoming nurseries for dis-
ease and death, instead of being appropriated to their legitimate and destined use—the
promotion of health, and the diffusion of happiness and comfort amidst an industrious and
grateful population. ‘ ‘
The other subject to which I am desirous to advert, before I Eroceed to call your attention

to the state of the Calendar, is the intended enrolment of a Mi 'tia force within the Colony.
That the Mother Country has from time to time cheerfully and liberally contributed to the
expense of keeping up a military force upon this coast, you are well aware. Why this force
no longer exists in the same physical proportion, it is needless for me to remind you who
know the dreadful ravages which death has made in the ranks of the European troops for-
rnerly sent to this country. The experiment of employing white men permanently as sol~
diets in this climate, has been tried and has failed ;— and when England is at this moment
contracting all her own establishments, and reducing her expenditure in every branch of the
public service, were there no other objection to the keeping up of a military force here on
the same footing as formerly, His Majesty’s Government would not feel themselves justified
In recommending it, from considerations arising out of the expense which it must necessarily
entai
They have, however, expressed their wish, that a Militiaforce should be raised here by

the inhabitants themselves, and that wish has to a certain degree been complied with. The
embodying of that force had gone on to a certain extent, until the unhagpy state of the
Colony, to which 1 have before adverted, put a temporary stop to it. The 0 struction which
has existed to this most useful measure, 18 now, however, I trust at an end; but should any
lurking opposition to it still remain, it is the duty of every man who hears me to assist in
overcoming it. Let the inhabitants of Sierra Leone recollect, that it is for their own benefit
and advantage that such a measure has been contemplated ;——that it is for the defence of
their persons and roperty,-—for the protection of their ofi'stfring, and all that they hold most
dea‘rs, that His ltXajestys Government have advised an encouraged the enrolmenltitif _a

3 4. I ma
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Militia force within their own boundaries. And, while they recollect those things, they

will feel that it will not be for their advantage, and that there will be no excuse for them

if they adopt the partial, the interested, the mischievous advrce of those who, for their 0wu

tern rary and selfish ends, would endeavour to prevent them ftom coming forward, and

exhi iting the proud spectacle of an association of Citizens, armed m their own defence.

While I am upon this subject, I consider it my duty to address myself, through you, Gen.

tlemen of the Grand Jury, particularly to the native and coloured inhabitants of this Colony,

and to say, that the dispositions of Elite Ma'esty’s Government towards them, are of the

most friendly—the most beneficent kind. T ey are desirous to‘ support and encoura e

them, to cultivate the exercise of their abilities, in every way in which they may be mage

available or useful—end it is, in particular, the anxious wish of the Present Secretary of

State for the Colonies, Sir George Murray, to put them, in respect to al such employment;

as they may be found eligible to, upon a footing with the rest of His Majesty’s subjects.

But to merit this paternal disposition on the part of His Majesty’s Government, it is

necessary that the conduct of their fellow-subjects of the mother country should be emulated,

The people of England have lon had to struggle for the blessings which they en'oy. They

have had to struggle for them rough a lon course of years, and it was only y patience

and labour, and a willing obedience to the aw, that t have elevated themse ves to the

proud station which they now hold amidst the nations 0 the world, and acquired the ri-

vileges, and that constitution which is at once their safeiuard and their ride. In at

constitution, and in those privileges, they are willing that t e inhabitants 0 this Colony—

who have had no previous labour in their acauirement—should freely participate, upon the

simple and eas condition of perfmming the uties which are required by every State from

its subjects an citizens. . .

And let me add, Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, that it cannot be too strongly impressed

upon the inhabitants of this;Colony generally, and the native inhabitants in particular, that

as it is to their own exertions the must ultimately look for assistance and support, the best

mode in which they can evince t eir gratitude for the favours conferred upon them by the

mother country, while they at the same time consult their own best interests, is by put-

ting forth all their own energies, and relying as little as possible upon the aid of others.

Having thus disposed of the preliminary topics to which I deemed it necessary to advert,

and accompanied them by comments, not dictated by any spirit of harshness or political

feeling, but drawn from me solel by a sense of dut , in the anxious hope that they may

make.a due and salutary impression, I proceed to cal your attention to the state of. the

Calendar. In it I am sorry to see the names of so man persons accused of serious crimes,

and foremost amongst whom appears that of an indivi ual cha ed with an offence, which

until in arrival here, I had imagined must have been unknown in this Colony, however it

may u appily, and to the disgrace of human nature, have spread and flourished elsewhere.

I allude to the case of 1720mm Edward Cowan, who has been charged in the examinations

now before me, with having kidnapped and sold into slavery, a boy named Geo e Lei h.

under circumstances, which if they be proved in evidence, mark the case as one 3% pe ‘ar

enormit . '

I amiware that in a Colony constituted as this is, where the provisions of British laws—

laws applicable to a people in a high state of civilization—are made to extend to a population,

the great proportion of Wham must necessarily be ignorant of them, from having but recently

been rescued from slavery, and not having had the benefit of religious or moral instmction— ,

I am aware that, under such circumstances, great allowances should be made, and that the

severity of that law which would fall with justice upon the head of the civilized offender,

should be tempered with an extra proportion of mercy in the case of the untutored African.

If, hOWever, it should be proved that the person accused of the atrocious crime of kidnap- '

ping, and selling into that slavery from which he himself had been rescued, one of his fellow-

men and fellow-countrymen—one who had been a liberated African like himself,—was an

individual who could not plead ignorance in excuse, and who took advantage of his situa-

tion as a master, to place his servant in the hands of slave dealers—what, I say Gentlemen,

can add to his guilt? or what can he pleaded in mitigation of the punishment which the

law awards to his offence? ‘

If the facts stated in the examinations be proved to your satisfaction, it will be your

bounden duty to return a true bill, and send the prisoner to be tried by a jury of his coun-

try, who will have to decide upon his guilt or innocence. You will recollect that you are

not the ultimate judges of that fact;—-that it is your duty to hear the evidence for the pro-

secution, and if you think that evidence establishes a probable cause for sending the pri-

soner to trial, to do so.
Had not this case brought the subject prominently and judicially before me, it is a sub-

ject to which I should still have felt It my duty to call your attention ; and I request, that

what I am now about to say, may obtain the serious attention and consideration, and sink

deep into the minds, of all who hear me. .

I have heard, and from the source from which my information is derived, I am bound to

believe what I should otherwise have deemed incredible—that persons are to be found in

this Colony, who, if not directly en ged in, aid and abet the abominable traffic in Slaves.

That such persons are to be found, repeat it. in nus COLONY—a Colony founded for its

suppression, towards whose establishment, and in whose support, so much wealth has been

expended, and so many valuable lives sacrificed : and further, that meu holding respectable

stations,—men having all the outward appearance and show of respectability, age not
as am
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gshamed—I should rather say, are not qfraid—to lend themselves to this nefarious, this
abominable trade!

I say, Gentlemen of the Grand_J'ury, that it has come to the ears of the Government of
this Colony, that such aid and assistance have been afi‘orded in the fitting out of ships well
known to be destined for such unlawful traffic; and that vessels have been fitted out from
time to time by persons sueh as I have described, residents of this Colony, for the Gallinas
and elsewhere, with the objects and purposes of which it is im ssible they could have been
unacqu'ainted. _ We have not as yet had sufficient proof laid bgfore us, to bring the offence
home to the guilt . Let me, however, solenmly warn those to whom the imputation applies,
that the eye of e Govemlnent is nnon them ;, and that, whatever be their station in
society, or however great their ill-acquu'ed riches, they shall not, if convicted, escape the
severest punishment which the law awards to their offence.

Is it to be tolerated I say, Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, that this Colony, established
for the express purpose of sugpressing this vile traffic, should be made a mart for 'ng
it on? Is it to be borne that this harbour, miscaJJed—if all I‘have heard and am led to be 'eve
be true—the harbour of Freetown, should shelter within its bosom, while the British
waves over its ramparts, vessels, surchased . after their condemnation by the Mixed Com-
mission Courts, to make a mop and a third experiment in the Slave-trade ’.' to be per-
haps fin captured by our crulzers, and again bought up by the skulking foreigners who
prowl a at this place, as the one best calculated for their iniquitous purpose?

I have since m arrival here, taken some pains to ascertain the number of liberated
Africans imported into this Colony within a iven period, as eomrared with the number now
located in the different villages; and althoug the census ofthe atter is not quite complete,
I have every reason to believe, that whereas there have been imported into the Colon of
Sierra Leone within the last ten years, upwards of 22,000 Africans, who have obtained t eir
liberation, and have been located here at the expense of the British Govemment—an
expense, which upon the most moderate calculation, including that of the Civil Establish—
ment of this Colony, and of the Naval and Military force attached to it, together with the
sums paid to the higher and subordinate officers of the Mixed Commissions, amounts to
3001. |- man, or near] seven million: sterling, in the course of ten years—there are not now
to he ound in the who e Colony above 17,000 or 18,000 men! That this decrease does not
arise from an disproportion in the number of births to that of deaths, I need onl refer you
to the fact, at within the last year, and that one of the most fatal known in e Colony,
the proportion of births to deaths was as seven to‘ one. Judging from this ratio, and
making every allowance for the necessary casualties, there ought to have been at the pre-
sent moment, an increase of population to the amount of at least, oue-half upon the whole,
instead of such a diminution as I have stated. What then is the conclusion to which
I come, and to which every honest, unprejudiced, and right-thinking man must come, upon
the subject? Why, appalling as the fact may be, and incredible as it must appear to many,
that the Slave—trade is either directly carried on, although of course not openly and osten-
sibly, or that it is aided and abetted in this Colony. .
And do those who directly or indirectly deal in, aid, abet or encourage this trade, imagine

that the legislature has not provided an adequate punishment for such conduct ’! If they do,
they are much mistaken ; and t0 revent any misconception on the subject in future, it
becomes my duty to refer them to t e 9th and 10th sections of the 5th Geo. 4, cap. 113, by
the former of which it is enacted, “ That if any subject or subjects of His Majesty, or any
“ rson or persons residing or being within any of the dominions, forts, settlements,
“ actories, settlements or territories now or hereafter belonging to His Majesty, shall, after
“ the 1st July 1825, in any haven, river or creek where the Admiral has jurisdiction, know-
“ ingly and wilfully carry away, convey or removeany person or persons as a slave or slaves,
“ or aid or assist in conve 'ng or removing them for the pin ose of their being brou ht into
“ any island, colony or p ace whatsoever, for the purpose 0 their being sold, transfirred or
" dealt with as slaves, or shall aid or assist in the ship ing or embarking them for such
“ urpose, that such person so ofi‘ending shall be deeme and adjudged guilty of Piracy,
“ Iielony and Robbery, and upon conviction shall suffer death without benefit of clergy, and

' “ loss of lands, goods and chattels, as pirates, felons and robbers upon the sea ought to
“ suffer.” B the 10th section it is enacted, “ That all persons dealing in, or exporting or
“ importing aves, or who shi , embark, receive, detain 0r confine on board, or contract for
“ the ship ing on board any s ip, vessel or boat, slaves or anylother persons, for the urpose
“ of their ing dealt with as slaves, or who fit out slave s ips, 0t embark capi in the
“ slave trade, or guarantee slave adventures, or ship goods to be employed in the slave
“ trade;” and further, “ That if any person shall serve on board a slave ship as captain,
" master, mate, surgeon or supercargo, or shall insure slave adventures, he shall be deemed
“ guilty of Felony, and transported beyond the seas for a term not exceedmg fourteen years,
“ or be confined to hard labOur for a term not exceeding five years, nor less than three
" ears.”
yThese, Gentlemen, are the penalties which the law awards to the offence; and for myself

I will say, that while I have the honour of holding the oflice of Chief Justice of this Colony,
those penalties shall, as far as they depend upon me, be rigorously enforced in every case
where the offence is proved. I came here determined to do my duty, and I will never allow
it _to be said that I lent myself, even by implication, while in the situation which His
Majesty has been ciously pleased to bestow upon me, to the continuance of this abomi-
nable traflic. An I further say, that it is the duty of every man in this Colony to labour,
heart and hand, in putting it down, and in denouncing to the constituted authorities those
364. demons
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demons in human form, who make the flesh and blood of their fellow-creatures an article of

trade, and who dare to come into this Colony to carry on their odious pursuits.

By an act of generous self-sacrifice, Eng and has relieved herself: from the opgrobrium of

being a arty to this trade; and if, through the lupmeness, mdlfi'erence, or ad faith of

other nations, the benefits Which were anticipated, have not been the result—or rather, if

there has been a consequent aggregation of the miseries of: a system which can only be

effectually suppressed by the cordial union and co—operatlon of all civilized nations-

En land I sa , Gentlemen, is not to be blamed for these results.‘ She has done her dut ;

an it is the uty of every man who has the honour of his country at heart, to act u to e

letter and spirit of the laws which she has enacted for the abolition of this tra e. Let

Spaniards, and Portuguese, and Frenchmen carry on the infamous traffic if they please—let

them chuckle over the acquisition of their ill-got wealth, and rejoice that they are enabled

with impunity to violate the laws of their own country. Let them beware, however, of

comin into our harbours, and within our jurisdiction, to violate our laws. But let En lish-

men g ory in pursuing the more legitimate avenues toriches ;—-and to the inhabitants 0 this

Colony in particular I would sa , that there are sources of wealth open to them in the

lawful trade of the country, whic are both easier and safer in their attainment than the

roduce of an unlawful trade—wealth, which the may en'oy themselves without a pang,

and which their descendants may inherit without a lush. 0 that lawful trade, which I am

ha py to hear is flourishing, I would recommend all who value themselves and their own

salety, to adhere. By the prosecution of it this Colony may still flourish, and be made
useful to the Mother Country; but the unlawful traflic to which I allude, will only entail
misery and disgrace on those who enga e in it either directly or indirectly, and must
eventuallv prove most deeply injurious to t e interests of the Colony at large.

There is only one other case in the Calendar of sufficient importance to induce me to draw

our attention to it at this moment. It is that of a man who has been committed for an .

alleged murder, upon evidence which is altogether flesumptive. Evidence of this kind, and
particularly in cases of murder, must occasionally admitted; but it is to be viewed with

caution, and on will exercise that caution in the present instance. I shall have occasion to
address you urther in the course of the Sessions; at present, these are all the topics which

suggest themselves to my mind as necessary to trouble you with.
And now, Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, efore I dismiss you to the performance of those

duties which devolve upon you, with the nature of which you must, from experience, be well

acquainted, and which you will, I have no doubt, perform in such a manner as to show that
you entertain a just sense of their importance, let me once more assure you, that in what

I have addressed to you, I have been actuated by no other motive than an earnest desire to

discharge my duty under the peculiar circumstances in which I am placed ;—that those who
obey the laws, and show themselves loyal subjects, will at all times find in me, whilst I
remain amongst. ou, a firm friend and supporter—while those who adopt a contrary line of
conduct, will ling me equally inflexible in opposing them; and when we meet again, I trust
I shall be able to address you in language more congenial to my feelings, and to congratulate
you on that which is, at this moment, my most anxious wish—the restoration of peace,
harmony and tranquility to the Colony of Sierra Leone.

 

—~No. 2.-

EXTRACT of a DESPATCH from Secretary Sir George Murray,

to Lieutenant-Governor Findlay; dated 26 October 1 830.

I HAVE read with the greatest concern, and with no less surprize, the statements

made in Mr. JeEcott’s Charge to the Grand Jury, respecting the prevalence of

the Slave Trade in the Colony under your Government. Howeverpainful and unex-

pected may be the result at which the Chief Justice has arrived, he will deserve the

utmost commendation for his discernment in detecting these offences, and for his zeal

in bringing the criminals to justice, if it shall ultimately appear that his suspicions

are well founded. If, on the other hand, he has delivered from the Bench, and

communicated to the Public at large, representations substantially erroneous, upon
a question of so much national as well as local importance, although I might even

in that event be disposed to acknowledge his zeal, I should have very deeply to
lament that it had not been tempered by more discretion. It is almost superfluous
to remark, that an officer holding the high and responsible situation of Chief

Justice, could not, without extreme inconvenience and impropriety, give the
sanction of his name and station to public charges, affecting the character of the
whole society and the reputation ofevery preceding Governor or Judge, upon light
or doubtful grounds. I am the rather induced to make these remarks at present,
because I must confess that Mr. Jefi‘cott’s statements carry with them the appearance
of much exaggeration and improbability. '

In the first place, he has represented that the number of Africans imported inito
t e
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the Colony, and liberated by the Mixed Commission Courts, within the last ten

ears, exceeds 22,000; and that from 1808 to 1829, the number of Africans

{iberated b the Court of Vice Admiralty, is 13,000; this would give a total of

35,000 sou 8. Now the Official Returns transmitted to this Department, are imper-

fectly made out; they do not-mclude the year 1829. But assuming the numbers

imported in that year to have been 2,500, which is nearly the average of the three

preceding years, it would appear, from the Returns in this Oflice, that the total

number of liberated Africans, from the year 1808 to the present time, whether

condemned by the Court of Vice Admiralty, or by the Mixed Commission Courts,

is not 35,000, as Mr. Jefi'cott has stated, but only 28,481. The difi'erence is 7,519.

I observe also, that in the 20th page of the printed Report of the Commissioners

of Inquiry, the number of imported Africans, up to December 1825, is stated at

17,833—a statement altogether "incompatible with Mr. Jefl‘cott's supposition, that

in May 1830 they amounted to 35,000.

Thus, then, I cannot but suppose, that the Judge has much exaggerated, of

course unintentionally, the Total number of Africans delivered into the charge of

His Majesty’s Officers at Sierra Leone; it is, I think, not less evident that he has

overrated the rule of increase by births.

His statement is, that within one of the most fatal years known in the Colony,

the proportions of births to deaths was as seven to one; and reasoning upon this

fact, he conceives that the whole imported population ought to have increased by

one-half, so as to give 52,500 souls for the population of liberated Africans and

their progeny, which the Colony ought now to contain. I apprehend, however,

that such a rate of increase is utterly at variance with the results of general expe-

rience, and with the Returns from Sierra Leone itself. There is, I conceive, no

part of the globe in which, under the most favourable circumstances, the rate of

increase approaches nearly to that on which Mr. Jefi'cott reasons.-

Thus, at the Cape of Good Hope, the Returns in this Office show the births to

be in the proportion of 1.} to 1 death per annum. At Malta, the proportion in

favour of births is as 1 t to 1 per annum. In New South Wales, the births annually

exceed the deaths in the proportion of 1 11,; to 1 . To suppose that‘in a population

so ill assorted as is that of Sierra Leone, in which the number of males so greatly

exceed the females, and when the persons in question have been recently delivered

from the holds of Slave ships, with all the wretchedness and disease incident to

that situation, the population should annually increase in the ratio of 7 births

to 1 death, is an assumption to which it is quite impossible to assent, and which it

is difficult to understand how Mr. Jefl'cott himself could have admitted.

But the Returns of births and deaths transmitted to this Department are no less

opposed to Mr. Jefi'cott’s conclusions. The evidence they give of the fecundity of

the Afriban race is, indeed, sufficiently remarkable. In 1828, the births exceeeded

the deaths in the proportion of 211., to 1, and in 1 829 in the proportion of 2T“1r to 1 ;

this, though very remote from the proportions assumed by Mr. Jefi'cott, is still so

opposite to all ordinary experience, that I cannot regard the Returns to which

I have referred, without much distrust of their accuracy. I find that at the Gambia

the births exceeded the deaths only in the proportion of 1 {,- to 1 in the year 1829.

I am aware of no reason which would justify the supposition that the Gambia is

less congenial to African constitutions than Sierra Leone, or more unfriendly to the

multiplication of Africans by natural increase.

In estimating the deduction from the stock of imported Africans, Mr. Jefi’cott

makes no allowance for the obvious defects-in the Returns, and the impossibility

under which he laboured, at the time of making his Charge, of ascertaining the

existing numbers with precision. Neither does he advert to voluntary emigrations

from the Colony, nor to the enlistments for the King’s Military Service, as causes

f0r diminishing the numbers of the imported Africans. He is entirely silent also

respecting the destructive efl‘ect upon the lives of these people, which is known to

result from their sufferings during the period of their detention in Slave ships.

Had allowance been made for these circumstances, Mr. Jefl'cott might perhaps

have found cause to hesitate in declaring his conviction from the Bench, that, but

for the Slave Trade practised in the Colony, the actual population would have been

30,000 at least greater than it is.
I have thought it right thus to record the grounds of my present distrust of the

views of the Judge, in justice to the memory of the several Officers who have

formerly administered the affairs of the Colony, and Who are directly implicated in

the 6censure which the published Charge to the Jury conveys. Iam, however,

3 4. . most
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most anxious that every practicable method should be taken for ascertaining the
truth. With that view, you will immediately constitute a Commission or Board of
Inquiry, at which you will yourself preside, assisted by the Chief Justice, the
Advocate-General and such of His Majesty’s Commissary Judges, or Judges of
Arbitration under the Treaties with Foreign Powers, as may be able to render you
their assistance. _

You will add to the Commission any other persons whose co-operation you may
deem useful, and who may themselves be entirely exempt from every suspicion of
participation or connivance in the alleged infractions of the law. In virtue of the
powers entrusted to you by His Majesty’s Charter and Commission, you will
propose to the Council the enactment of any such Ordinances as may be necessary
to render the proposed Inquiry efficient. You will then, without any needless
delay, proceed to investigate the truth ofthe imputations contained in Mr. Jefi'cott’s
published Charge; and at the earliest possible penod, you will transmit to me the
Report of the Commissioners, with the whole of the evidence on which it may be
founded. .

In the mean time, I can only urge you to §n‘oceed with, the utmost vigilance in
bringing to justice the individuals whom Mr. efi'cott has already indicated as being
engaged in the perpetration of these crimes. However much I may feel myself
bound to withhold m'y assent to the general view of this subject taken by the Chief
Justice, it has unhappily been placed beyond dispute that, to some extent, Slave-
trading has been carried on at Sierra Leone.

 

-—No. 3.—

EXTRACT of a DESPATCH from Lieutenant-Governor Findlay,
to Viscount Goderich; dated Sierra Leone, 29 June 1831.

I HAVE the honour to inform your Lordship that, in obedience to instructions
contained in the Right Honourable Sir George Murray’s Letter addressed to me,
under date of the 26th October 1830, I issued a Commission, hearing date
3d. January 183 l, authorizing the persons therein named to inquire into and report
upon the allegations set forth in his Honour ChiefJustice Jefi'cott’s public Charge
to the Grand Jury, at the General Quarter Sessions held in this Colony in May
and June I830. I have now the honour of forwarding to your Lordship, that
Commission, with the Commissioners Report, and the whole ofthe Evidence taken
before them, on the various subjects to which the Chief Justice’s Charge to the
Grand Jury referred. _

I regret much the delay which has taken place in forwarding the proceedings of
this Inquiry, which has been owing to the want of suficient assistance in the
various departments to carry on the ordinary duties, and to make out the fair
copies. I shall refrain from making any observations on the proceedings of the
Inquiry, as our Lordshifi will, on perusing the Evidence, be the best judge whether
or not the hief Justice ad suflicient grounds for the observations he made in his
Charge to the Grand Jury.

 /

WILLIAM the Fourth, by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain
and Ireland King, Defender of the Faith, 48cc. 8L0. 8L0.

T0 Our trusty and well—beloved Alexander Findlay, Our Lieutenant-Governor of Our
Colony of Sierra Leone; to Our trusty and well—beloved John William Jefl'cott, Our Chief
Justicepf Our said Colony ; to Our trusty and well-beloved John Samo, Our Advocate of
Our said Colony ; to Our trusty and well-beloved William Smith, esquire, Our Jud e of
Arbitration at Sierra Leone, under the treaties with Foreign Powers for the abolition o the
Slave—trade; to Our trusty and well-beloved Walter William Lewis, Member of Council of
Our said Colony; to Our trusty and well-beloved James Boyle, esquire ; and to Our trusty
and well-beloved Henry Rishton, esquire, Colonial Secretary of Our said Colon , Greeting:
Whei'eas 1t hath been deemed expedient that an Investigation be had of an c‘oncermng
certain matters published in a Charge delivered by Our Chief Justice to the Grand Inquest
for Our Colony of Sierra Leone,_ at a. Sessions of Oyer and 'l‘erminer, holden in Our said
Colony, 1n the months of May and June last past; and for the better ascertaining the
grounds of the various statements contained in the aforesaid Char e: Know ye. that we
reposmg especial trust and confidence in the integrity and caref circumspection of $011

’ ‘ ' ur
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Oul' said Lieutenant-Govemor of 0111' said Colony, you Our said Chief Justice of Our said

Colony, you Our. said Advocate of Our said Colony, you Our said Judge of Arbitration at
Our said Colony, you the said Walter William Lewis, esquire, Member of Council of Our

said Colony, and you the said James Boyle, esquire, have constituted and appointed you or
any three of you (whereof Our said Lieutenant-Govemor always be one,) Our Commis-

sioners, toenquire by such ways, means and methods, according to the best of your know-

ledge. and ability, of the truth of all matters and. things asserted in the above-mentioned

.Cha e delivered by Our sand, Chief Justice as aforesaid; which in any ways refer to the

pmvfienee of the. Slave trade, the Number of Africans hitherto brought into Our said

Colony for Emancipatlon, and the annual rates ofMortality and Fecundity in that Class of

Persons ; and to summon and examine upon oath (which oath We do hereby empower you ,

or either of you to administer) such persons as you may deem necessary.- And we do give and
t unto on Our said Commissioners reapectively', full power and authority to search, 91- -

amine or c lfor copies ofall public documents or records, touching or in an wise concerning
the remises, i'n whosesoever custody the samemay be deposited within 111' said Colony,
here y commandingall officers and ministers, ,Onr faithful and liege subjects whomsuever, 1n

the execution of the premises, ' that “:1? be hel ing, favouring and assistin and yielding

obedience to you and every of you in things at are fittin . And We do, ereby require
that you fail not to reduce into. writing afull true and erfect port of all your p ' ;

and, the same being complete; that you transmit suc Report, subscribed by on, to ur
Principal Secrets of State for Our Colonies, together with these presents. . itness Our
trusty and well be oved Alexander Findlay, Our Lientenant-Govemor and Commander-in-

Chief in and over Our Colony of Sierra Leone, at Freetown, the Third day of January, in the

First Year of 0111' Reign. ‘ .

By a Despatch from the Right Honourable Sir George Murray, His Majesty’s
Princi a1 Secret of State for the Colonies, dated at Downing-street the Twenty-
sixth ay of Octo er, in the First Year of the Reign of His Moat Gmious Majesty.

(signed) 41a; FM”
By .His Exeellency’s command. IneutenantiGoyemor.

(ei ed) Henry Rishtaa,
gn Colonial Secretary.
 

To the Right Honourable Lord Viscount Goderich, one of His Majesty’s Principal

Secretaries of State, 8m. 8w. 81c.

The REPORT of the Committee of Enquiry constituted in and by the Despatch of the
Right Honourable Sir George Murray, late His Majesty’s Principal Secmtary of State
for War and the Colonies: dated 26th October 1830 ;—

Humbly showeth,
That with reference to the first object to which the attention of this Committee is called,

viz. “ The Statement that the Number of Africans imported into the Colony, and liberated

f‘ by the Mixed Commission Courts, exceeds 22,000.” It ap ears to this Committee, from
the official Return produced, that the number of Africans received by the Liberated African
Department from the Mixed Commission Court,to the gut May 1830, is 23,539; and that

the number emancipated in that Court is 22,422,1eaving a balance of 1,117, who have been

received by the Liberated African Department without emancipation.
That with reference to the second ob'ect of this Committee’s attention, viz. “ That from

" 1808 to 1829, the Number of Africans iberated by the Court ofVice-Admiral , is 13,000.”
It would appear by the Return produced by the Registrar of that Court, that e number is
only 12,1 14; it therefore appears that an error of 886, has been made in this statement. But

it will further appear by theReturns of the Registrars of the Mixed Commission and Vice-
Admiralt Courts, that the collective number Who have been liberated in the Colony,

exceeds t e number stated in the Charge of Chief Justice Jefi'cott to the Grand Jury, in

June 1830, by 653; and by the Retnms of Mr. Thomas Cole, the Assistant Superintendent
of Liberated Africans, it is further apparent that 37,456 have been received by that depart-
ment, exceedin the number stated 1n the Cha e, by 2,456.
That with re erence to the third object of the ommittee’s attention, viz. “ That it is evi-

“ dent that the Chief Justice has overstated the rate of increase by Births.” The Commit-
tetilbeg to refer to the evidence of the Chief Justice (page 28), in whwh an explanation
w: ap ear.
The I()IOInmittee have to remt, that they cannot, with reference to the actual and compa-

rative rates of fecundity and mortality, procure any definite evidence ; the Returns which
have been presented to them being very imperfect, no records having been kept in some of

the villages prior to the lst January 1827, and even since that period being very imperfect,

from circumstances detailed in the Evidence and Returns. But even adm1tting the deaths

to.be more than the births, still the great deficiency, in the opinion of the Committee, is

chiefly attributable to the system of kidnapping which has prevailed for so many years.
. That with reference to the fourth object to which the attention of the Committee is

directed. viz. “ That the Chief Justice does not advert to voluntary Emigrations from the
“ Colony, nor to the Enlistments for the King’s Military Service, as causes for diminishing

“ the numbers of the imported Africans.” This Committee have to remark upon the first

Pomst. that the evidence relative thereto, is very contradictory.- Mr. Thomas Cole, how-

3 4. ever,

497



 

498

10 PAPERS RELATIVE TO THE SLAVE TRADE

ever, from his official situation, and the nature ofhis duties in the Liberated African Depart.

ment, is more likely to be correct in his evidence on this point, than any other person in
the Colony can be; and the Committee therefore beg to refer particularly to his evidence
a 2 .

(P $th53eferenee to the Enlistments, the number will appear in Mr. Thomas Cole’s returns.
The Committee have to submit, that they have called before them such persons of all

classes, as they were of opinion could afford them most correct information; and from the
evidence adduced, the Committee Cannot but conclude that the nefarious system of kid-
napping has revailed in this Colony, to a much greater extent than was even alluded to in
the Charge 0 the Chief Justice to the Grand Jury 1n June 1830, as will fully appear in the
evidence adduced.
The Committee have further to submit, that while the actual system of kidna ping has

principally prevailed among the Mandingo tribes and liberated Africans themse ves (who
seem, in many instances, to have but little gratitude for the favours conferred upon them b
the British Government), they cannot refrain from remarking, that fireat facility has at the
same time been afl‘orded to the increase of the Slave—trade b the ritish merchants of the
Colony, who have Purchased vessels condemned in the Mixeg Commission Court, as agents
for foreigners; which vessels have afterwards been brought into the Colony and again con-o
demned, fora repeated infraction of the Slave-trade Abolition Act. The Committee here
refer to the evidence of Messrs. Smith and Lewis (pa%es 16 and 26), Hook (page 15), and
William Cole (page 20) as well as to the return of the atter gentleman. .

With reference to this subject, the Committee have to express their regret that some very
recent instances have occurred, in which Persons of apparent respectability, have been
charged with aiding and abetting the S ave-trade, as will appear from the evidence
annexed.
The Committee in conclusion, feel it their duty to refer particularl to the Return of the

Clerk of the Crown and Police; from which it will appear, that during the ten years re-
ceeding the year 1830, although numerous cases of persons charged with the offence of id-
napping, had become the subject of investigation, only one erson had been convicted of
the offence; and that during the last ten months, not less t an thirteen convictions have
taken place.

All which, this Committee beg most humbly to submit, 8L0.

(signed) Alex" Findlay, Lieut' Governor.
J. W. Jefl'cott, ChiefJustice.

Sierra Leone, J. Boyle, Col‘ Surg'.
'17 March 1831. Henry Rishton, Col. Sec’.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
Walter Williamlewis and James Boyle, Esquires.

Government House, 7th January 1831'.
PERSONALLY appeared Mrs. Maria Magf , who being duly sworn upon the Holy

Evangelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That she was in the Soosoo Country last
February (1830), where she met with Siacca, one of the chiefs of the country, with whom
she had a conversation, but not particularly relative to liberated Africans or Slave Trade.
Siacca did not reside in the same village at which she was residing; she went to pay him a
visit, as he was an old friend of her father. In the course of the conversation, Siacca
inquired about things at Sierra Leone, of which he was ignorant, not having been at Sierra
Leone for man years; he said he understood that trade was very bad, and that they were
selling each ot er. To this she answered, she had not heard of it.

Having heard these remarks from Siacca, and on her return to the Colony having found
that so many slave traders had been discovered, she sup osed that the slave trade was
carried on to a great extent. She has kept the school at 'ellington for ten years; never
missed any of the girls during that time ; some 0. the children have been decoyed by their
country people, but the object of the decoy was not known, and after a few days’ search,
they .have generally been found. If any liberated Africans have been taken away from
Wellington it is not known, and they have never been returned.
At the time Sir Charles M‘Carthy returned from England she had general] 30 or 40

scfiolars; they were all large girls, and, as they were married, their places were lled up by
ot ers.

She did not understand the Chief Siacca to say, that what he stated in the conversation
before mentioned, was from his own knowledge, but that he had heard it. She has no
doubt that Siacca himself keeps slaves.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant—Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
Walter William Lewis and James Boyle, Esquires.

Government House, 7th January 1831.
PERSONALnY appeared the Rev. C. L. F. Harnsell, who bein duly sworn upon the

Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That t e Church Missionary
Soc1ety have no means of keeping a correct register of births and deaths; he produced a

Statement,
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Statement,kePt byvthe Rev; J. G. Whilhelm, of the births and deaths at the liberated

African village of aterloo, from the year 1819 to the year 1825.
He stated, that baptism was not a ministered indiscriminately by the members of the

Church Missionary Society; it was generally refused where the sponsors were not com-

municants, unless under very extraordinary circumstances. He has never heard any facts

of children being kidnapped, but has heard reports. He heard of a man at Regent, about

four to six months ago, having attempted to entice away a boy from the school at that

settlement, but he was unsuccessful, and he was taken into custody. The number of

children under instruction is expressed in an Annual Return, which is transmitted to the

Church Missionary Society. A daily account of the number of children attending school,

is kept at some of the schools.

 

Before,-—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
Walter William Lewis and James Boyle, Esquires.

Government House, 7th January 1831.

PERSONALLY a peared Mr. Bery'amin Campbell, who having been duly sworn in on the
Holy Evangelists o Almighty God, deposeth and saith, He is aware that the system of idnap-

ing has prevailed in this Colony for the last 5 (five) years, and latterly to a very great extent.

ecollects “ La Doceur,” a French cutter, which was seized at the Isles de Loss, by Mr. Per-

cival. This Deponent went on board with Mr. Percival, and was recognised by two boys, who
stated they belonged to Mr. K. Macaula . This Deponent communicated the circumstance to
the Colonial Government, but does not now what steps, ifany, were taken to investi ate the

matter, or to discover the kidnapper. At this period Deponent resided at the Isles e Loss.
Knows that three years ago the people of the Rio Pongas were in the habit of coasting,
that they were well supplied with liberated Africans from the Colony: he spoke enerally of
this circumstance to Persons in the Colony, and among others, to the late Ni. Kenneth
Macaulay, the senior member of Council. He mentioned it likewise to Major Ricketts
when Lieutenant-Govemor. On his late visit to the Rio Pongas, he made man inquiries
to ascertain to what extent this kidnapping system prevailed, and the result has ed him to

believe that if he stated the annual export from that river, during the last three years to have
been 250 (two hundred and fifty) liberated Africans, the average would not be exaggerated.

Deponent was informed by a Chief, upon whose credit he can rely, that at that period
John Ormond had about 70 (seventy) and Jousifi'e (a white man, a subject of this Colony)
had upwards of 20 (twenty) liberated Africans at their factories in the Rio Pongas ;—there

are about five or‘six other slave factories in that river, who, of course, have their pro ortion

of liberated Africans. The same Chief informed this Deponent, that a man name Suree
Gaboo (now in ac] on a charge of slave dealing) had been in the constant habit of taking

with him from gierra Leone five, six and seven liberated Africans at a time, and disposing
of them in the country. '
De onent has reason to believe that John Ormond has a slave factory at Magbelly, in the

river ierra Leone, out of the jurisdiction of the Colony, and that a constant communication
is kept up with canoes between the rivers Sierra Leone and Pongas. Durin the last rains
Deponent met with the Resident at the factory he alludes to, and taxed him with being

Ormond's agent, and being there for the purpose of slave dealing, which he did not deny.
Deponent is not aware whether liberated Africans are shipped from the Sherbro, Scarcies,
Malacary, 8w.
Deponent is of opinion that a great number of liberated Africans are sent to the Gallinas

for the purpose of bein sold; and supposed the avera e to be about the same as he has
already stated for the Eio Pongas. Deponent does not now of this of his own knowledge,
but from re ort; and he is further led to believe it, from his knowledge of sums of money
being broug t up from the Gallinas to Sierra Leone, as returns for the exports. Deponent
knows that the slave vessels are in the habit of bringing specie for the purpose of procuring
goods; Deponent knows one instance. Mr. Hilary Teage, who resides at the American
settlement of Liberia, at Cape Mensurado, near the Gallinas, and who trades between that
place and the Colony of Sierra Leone, when purchasing some goods from a Mr. Lake, a
merchant in the Colony, produced a bag containing about one thousand dollars (H 1,000)
on which was marked the name of the S anish schooner “ Manzanares.” This vessel took
in her cargo at the Gallinas, and was suhsequently (in the month of May 1830) condemned
m the Courts of Mixed Commissions.
_ Deponent believes the Practice of kidnapping liberated Africans to have very much
increased in the Colon during the last twelve months, owing to the impunity with which it
has been carried on or many ears. The practice is principally carried on by the Man-
dingoes, and by the liberated Agricans themselves. .

 

Before,—The Lieutenant—Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 20th January 1831.
PERSONALLY ap eared Mr. William Henry Savage, who having been duly sworn on the

Holy Evangelists o Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he has been in this Colony
for gpwards of twenty-one years. During the government of the late Sir Charles M‘Carthy,
-3 4. , this
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this Deponent was sent to the Sherbro with a civil and military force, and brought back
with him 1 15 (one hundred and fifteen) liberated Africans, who _ ad: been sold into slavery.

The generality of liberated Africans formerly brought Into this Colon for emancipation

were the Jaloofs, Bassa Sherbros, Cussoos, Soosoos, and Inhabitants of t e nations near the

Colony. It is only within these few years that the Ackoos, and others from the Bight of
Benin, have been captured and brought in. The former, VIZ. the JaloofI, Bassas, 810. it has

fallen under Deponent’s observation, were not in the first instance carried away from the

Colon as slaves, but were induced by their country eople to return to their native country

with t em; and if any alaver was brought against t em, as no doubt there would, there is

no doubt they were resoi’d—being told that once having been a slave they had forfeited their
ri hts.
gDeponent is aware that a great number of liberated Africans have been kidnapped and

carried away by Mandingoes; man instances came to his knowledge during the sxx years

he held the Iituation of Clerk of P0 ice. Deponent has no doubt that four or five hundred

liberated Africans might be recovered by means of asecret mission to the Mandingo country,
conducted by a person possessing local information, and a hnowledge of the native lan-
nages. There is not a slave town in Mandingo country, in which Deponent does not
elieve there are some liberated Africans. Deponent has now in his employ a liberated

African, a native of Papaw, from whom he obtained information that he was ofi'ered a

assage to Tasso, by some Mandingo men, who stated_ they were going to Baner Island,
But instead of proceeding there, the carried him to his own country. Whilst detained
there, this man saw numbers of 1i rated Africans. It 15 about eleven months since
this occurred. This man escaped from the Mandingoes, and ran to some Kroomen, who
were trading in the country. The Kroomen carried him to the King, b whom he was
liberated, and allowed to return to the Colon . The Mandingo men have een recognised
and apprehended. There are a number of id 8 boys, who run away from their villages, or
who havin been confined in 01, do not wish to remain in their villages, who are picked
up by the andingoes and their agents, and are carried away into the country.

Deponent does not think that liberated Africans are carried away from this to the
Gallinas as slaves; but there are instances of their being induced to go as labourers, and
then sold; but in Deponent’s opinion many more are carried to the Mandingo count than
to the Gallinas. The ersons engaged in this kidnapping trade are persons of 'the owest
character, principally 'berated Africans themselves. A vast number of liberated Africans
become Mahommedans, adopt the Mahommedan dress, and settle near Mahomrnedan

villages; these men are made use of to entrap others; Deponent knows many of them.
Deponent believes this system has of late materially increased, particular] since the

Government subsistence has been allowed them for a much shorter period than ormerly, by
which they have been thrown upon their own resources earlier than used to be the case.
Deponent does not think so much care has been bestowed on their location and confine-
ment to one place. Formerly, if a liberated African left his settlement. a constable was
sent after him to bring him back. There were also extensive works going on in the several
liberated African villages, which was an inducement to them to remain in their settlements.

Deponent thinks that the population has actually decreased during the last seven years,
arising from the causes mentioned and from deaths. Among the old residented liberated
Africans, the births are far more than the deaths; but among the whole liberated African
population the deaths are no doubt considerably beyond the births. Deponent makes this
observation from his own ex rience, havin§l been employed several times in taking the
census of the opulation. he last census 6 took in 1825, or beginning of 1826, to the
best of his recofiection. It is a custom among all Africans to remove from the place where
the are taken sick, in order to guard against witchcraft, which may account for the ‘
di culty in ascertaining the correct number of deaths. There are also a great many followers
of the Parrah, which is a s ies of freemasonry or secret society. These persons, in order
to rform their rites, are 0 liged to retire from the Colony. .

' hey are in great numbers, amounting to several thousands. They have no known periods
(fixed) for performing their rites; they communicate with each other by secret signals.-

_. This circumstance may account for the difficulty or total impossibility of taking a correct
census. The small pox, some few years back; occasioned many deaths, and numbers of
those who died, Deponent is of opinion were never known.

. Sir Charles Macarthy took great interest in recovering the liberated Africans who were
kidnapped. The succeedin ovemors were so short a period in office, and their local
knowledoe was so small, Slat they were not enabled to exert theniselves so much as .
Sir Charles Macarthy. Deponent is not aware of any instance in which representations
have been made to the Government, and been neglected, but quite the reverse. Prosecu-
tions were seldom adopted, the people not being so daring as they are now grown.
The Portuguese from Bessao and Cacheo come to the Scarcies and neighbouring rivers at

stated periods of the year, on the plea. of purchasing Colas, and then purchase numbers of
liberated Africans, among other slaves who they carry away.

Deponent is of opinion, that the im erfect education 'ven to the African by the Mis-
s'ionaries, instead of being of use, ma es them idle an proud ; and that those who have
received such education, sooner than work, would not scruple to commit any improPer act.
to gain means of ministering to their ride.

In Sir Neil Campbell's government e nent was sent on a mission to recover (4g) forty-
nine men, who had been seized in the Shzrbro by General Turner, but who had never been
adjudicated. These people, in the absence of General Turner, were carried frtemlthe

0 any
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Colony. Deponent was furnished with a commission to follow them, and bring them back;

the were recovered, and afterwards adjudicated.
geponent has no doubt that a secret mission would be the means of recoverin

(4 or 500) four or five hundred liberated Africans who have been kidnapped, at a very s
ex ‘ n86.

fihas come to Depenent’s knowledge, that Mandingoes have come down here with rice
and bullocks; these have been sold for money, and with this cash they have induced the
liberated Africans to procure them their own countrymen for slaves, and have openly paid
them'for them. .

if the sot'ereignty of: the Sherbro had been retained, and establishments been formed there
to protect our own traders in the prosecution of their le °timate trade, Deponent is of
opinion it would have been the sure means of checking the ‘lave trade.

 

Before,——The‘ Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 20th January 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared Mr. John Mac Cormack, who having been duly sworn on the
H01 Evangelism of Almigh God, deposeth’ and saith, That during the administration of
Sir eil Campbell, he receive information that some liberated African boys and some native
boys had been kidnapped by some Mandingoes from the Sand Beach, near the Merchants
Powder Ma 'ne, and carried to the Mandin 0 country. Deponent sent over messengers
to the Mafia chiefs, and recovered two of e boys; afierwards, through the assistance
of Dalla Mahommadoo, Deponent recovered five others. The eldest boy was about fburteen
years of age, the youngest about seven. One of them stated, that when at the Fish Market
in Freetown, a person asked him to carry home a bunch of fish to a house in Gibraltar
Town. The boy consented, and when he arrived at the house, he went into the kitchen ;~
he was seized, and carried to a canoe. The Mandingoes who carried him, put something
over his month, which contracted his 1i 8, and prevented his making any norse. ‘ The he
could not recognize the house; he tol Deponent, that he had seen two others who hag
been carried awa at the same time with him; one of them was Deponent‘s own servant.

The boy was a immanee, not a liberated African. During the time Deponent lived at

Tombo (an island in the River Sierra Leone, upon which Deponent has a timber factory)
he had frequent opportunities of recovering boys who had been kidnapped. Deponent was
the better enabled to do this from his knowledge of the native languages. In some cases
boys knowing this Deponent to be in the native towns, have escaped to him, and claimed
his protection.
Some of the liberated Africans are marked in a eculiar manner, similar to a Mahorn-

'medan nation called the Bambarras. These frequen y go into the country, and adopt the .
Mandingo dress and religion. This class have come more particularly under Deponent’s
observation. These us come down to Freetown in canoes, and are not easily distin-
nished from those w national habits and dress they have aseumed.‘ Numbers of idle

fiberated African boys are seen prowling about the banks of the river. The class of men
before mentioned make up to these boys, and representing their bettered condition, the
excellent manner in which they are treated, and 131 their good clothing, prevail upon these
boys to accom ny them. W en they arrive in e native towns, a sham attack is made
upon them w ilst they are eating; the decayed boys are made slaves of, while their
entra pers are allowed to escape. This mode was described to Deponent, by one of the
boys brought. down to him to Tombo, and agrees with description given by certain of the
Timmanee Chiefs. The number recovered by this Deponent since 1816, cannot be less
than 25 or 26. Deponent generally re resented this to the Colonial Government, but no
steps were taken to recover the captu people, or punish their kidnappers, with the excep-
tion of Sir Neil Campbell, by whom two or three messengers were sent into the Mandingo
coun .

Dgiyonent thinks that particular tribes of the liberated Africans do decrease. Those
liberated Africans who have been taken in the wars between the Timmanees, Sherb
Bullorns, Soosoos, Cussoos, Loccos, Annullas and Korankas, (i.e.) in the neighbourhood
the Colony. and who have not been sold for slaves for any crime, on their emancipation,
universally voluntaril return to their native country. Of these there are great numbers.
Several have return with the sanction of the Government, Several gold traders, who were
on their way to the Gambia for trade, were seized b a nation in the neighbourth of
Besseo, and sold. They were afterWards captured by is Majesty’s s. uadron, and eman.
erpated. They all of them returned to their native country, and sev of them have been
In this Colony‘with cargoes of gold. Deponent agrees with Mr. William He Savage 'as to
the benefits which would have resulted from the retention of the sovereignty the Sherbgo;

In 1828, one Henry Ackim was prosecuted to conviction for slave trading. Deponent is
aware there were others, but cannot particularize them, or state the extent of the en 'uiry.
Deponent believes that the system of kidnapping has latterly partly proceeded min a

spirit of retaliation. several slaves belonging to ‘a Chief hanng been taken by the late
Mr.Johnson. Deponent believes the system of kidnapping has greatly increased in the
Colony of late years. One of the reasons, in his 0 imon, is the s ort period the liberated
Africans are now subsisted by the Government. he are from this circumstance com-
pellgd to wander about for subsistence and thus easily ome a prey to their countryma:

3 4. an
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and others. Deponent thinks, that if a person were to walk as far as the Cape, (a distance

of six or seven miles) at night, he might meet about twenty such. As an instance,

Captain Webb, of His Magsty’s Sloop, Medina, met one the other evening, and brought him

to the Liberated African apartment. . .

Man of the apprentices run away from their masters and mistresses in consequence

of bars treatment, and many rather walk than go back to them; and for fear, would allow

themselves to be carried to any place voluntarily, even to be made slaves of again. Deponent

has known many instances in which fireat cruelty has been practised towards apprentices.

Indeed most of the masters consider t em merel as their slaves. Deponent considers that

the number of males bears a proportion to the emales of three to one, which prevents an

increase of births over deaths. Another reason of the decrease is, the wretched state in-which

they are when landed fi‘om the slave ships.

 

Before,--The Lientenant—Govemor, the Chief Justice, The King’s Advocate,

and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 21st January 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared Mr. Duncan Noble, who having been sworn on the Holy Evan-
gelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he recollects a woman coming to him in
the month of September 1828, who stated that her son had beentstolen away from her and
carried over to the Mandingo country. That she had been there and seen him. That her
son informed her, that he knew the man who sold him, and told her his name, which Depo-
nent forgets. De onent gave a warrant to apprehend the man, who was taken and brought
before the Grand ury, which was sittin at the time. There did not appear sufficient evidence
before them, and Deponent believes he was detained until further evidence could be pro-
duced avainst him. The woman informed Deponent, a few months ago, that she had not
recovereti her son. Deponent will find the woman and brin her before the Board.

Deponent believes that the Slave trade is carried on principall by the Foulahs and Man.
dingoes who resort .to this Colony. Many of these people resi e here for months, some for
years: and it does not appear probable to Deponent, that the small quantity of gold or
roduce they brin down could suiport them during that period. De onent therefore

infers that many 0 them subsist by idnapping the liberated Africans an selling them to
the slave dealers in the surroundin rivers. Deponent has no direct evidence to prove this;

he gives it as his opinion. He is so of opinion, that the Slave trade is aided by the facility

iven to slaveodealers in purchasing vessels condemned in the Court of Mixed Commission.
he usual way of disposing of these vessels is by public auction; and it would seem as of

little consequence whether the purchasers are slave-dealers or no, provided they give the
highest price.

Deponent is induced to believe this, frombeing informed that the same vessels, although
under different names, havebeen occasionally condemned in that Court. Deponent refers
to the Records of that Court to ascertain whether the “ Prince of Guinea,” “ The Hoop.’

0r “ Hope," “ The Corsair,” and all other vessels, have not been disposed of in this manner.
Deponent’s opinion is, that the vessels should be destroyed immediately after they are

condemned, and thus ut it out of, the power of any man to make a bad use of them.
Deponent believes t e liberated Africans to be in the habit of selling each other. The

evidence adduced during the last General Quarter; Sessions of the Peace amply proves this.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire. '

Government House, elst January 1831. '

PERSONALLY ap eared Mr. John. Dean Lake, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evan-
gelists ofAlmight'y aod, deposeth and saith, That no Slaving transactions have taken place in
the Colony, to his personal knowledge, except those which have been publicly brought before
the Courts of Justice. Thinks, from what he has heard in these Courts, that the Slave trade

is increasing. Deponent is of opinion that this increase is not owin to the apath of
former Governors, but that it arises in a great measure from the altered Circumstances o the

peo le. ' . .

he Government not now, asformerly, having so many workscar ing on, by reason of which

the liberated Africans who were employed upon them, have not the meansof procuring the

luxuries they formerly could obtain—nor have they the means of procuring a comfortable
maintenance for their families ; they are thus easily induced to resort to any means to obtain
money.

Deponent believes this system of kidnapping has prevailed more particularly, and

increased for the last three years, since the government of Sir Neil Campbell, from the

hefore-mentioned cause.
Deponent has reason to believe, from the evidence adduced upon the several trials, that a

great number of liberated Africans are kidnapped from the Colony, and that a great number
are carried down to the Sherbro.

It has never come to Deponent’s knowledge, that the captains or owners of Slave vessels
trading to the adjacent rivers: are in the habit of sending to this Colony for goods to assort
their purchase cargoes. Deponent, from being attached to the Courts of Mier C_om-

mnssxons,
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missions, is aware of the nature ofthe cargoes hrou ht by the Slave vessels. Deponent has

heard and believes, that at the Gallinas money is t e principal article with which Slaves are
urchased. There is a circumstance which more stron 1y induces him to believe this to be

the case; Deponent believes the “ Mauzanares” brougit specie. Deponent had a mercan-

tile transactiOn with a Mr. Hilary Teage, an American sub'eet residing at Liberia. This
Mr. Tea e is in the habit of purchasin goods in this Coiony, which he takes down to

Liberia or sale, where a great many of e articles he purchases are in demand. Mr.Tcage,
in Pa in Mr. Lake for some goods, took the money from a b containing about S. 1,000.

(one thousand dollars.) The word “ Mauzanares” was mark on this bag. This circum~

stance struck him from the singularity of the word. De nent has. every reason to believe

this bag came out of this vessel, she having been broug’t into this harbour eubse uently

and condemned in the Court of Mixed Commissions, where it was proved that s e had

taken in her cargo at the Gallinas.
A direct trade (chiefly confined to the class of persons called Maroon and Nova Scotian

settlers) haS, to Deponent’s knowledge, been carried on to the Gallinas for the last nine

years.
 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,

and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, mst January 1831.

PE‘BSpNALLY appeared Mr. John Jackson, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evan-

elists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That last June he went down to the Gallinas;

he passed Seabar, and went to a town called Yerri, when he saw five liberated African boys

in chains. There were a great many slaves, but on] four of them were liberated Africans,

as De onent believes. Went in and made inquiry why these boys were chained. The boys

told him, “ Some Sierra Leone people.had sold them.” Deponent asked, “ Who the peo 1e

were? ” was informed that two of them had been sold by Samuel Wilson! and the 0 er

three by Peter Jordan.+ They were sold to a Frenchman by name Serraquai, to whom Depo—

nent went and asked him, “ If he did not know that they were King’s boys?” Serra uai

said, he knew they belonged to Sierra Leone, but he had purchased them. Deponent as ed

him where he had purchased them, and was told at Seabar.
Serraquai asked Deponent if he wanted them; Deponent said he had no money to buy

them, but he would go and inquire about them. Serraquai told him if he wanted them, he

must give him $.50. (fifty dollars) each, and he should have them. Deponent had no

further conversation on the subject, but went to the Gallinas to trade. When his trade was
made, he returned to Sierra Leone, and told the Colonial Secretary, by Mr. Parker’s direc-

tions. ’
About two da s afterwards he was sent for by the Colonial Secretary, who told him the

Governor wishe him to go down to the place, with Mr. Frederick Campbell. After receiving

resents, he roceeded to the Bananas, from whence Mr. Campbell and he went down to

erri. On eir way down they heard that war had broken out at Seabar, and that the

Frenchman, Serraquai, and the five boys had been driven away by it ; that the boys were

taken into the count . They went to Bendoo, where the war people were, and inquired for

the boys. The Chie told them the next day, that he had recovered four out of the five, but

that the other had run away. The boys were not then given to them, but the Chief promised

to send them to York Island, where Deponent and Mr. Campbell lodged. Stopped there a

fortnight where, in consequence of some dis ment, he left Mr. Campbell.

Deponent chiefl trades to the Gallinas; e believes the Slave trade to be the principal

trade there. He ( eponent) trades there for count cloths, ivory, 8L0. The aersons trading

from hence to the Gallinas, occasionally take rice tom the Sherbro to the allinas, which

they sell to the country people, and receive country cloths in exchange.

There are several Sierra Leone people living at the Gallinas; does not know if they intend

toretum. Saw there Isaac Jackson, (a. settler) Gem? Thomas (formerly a schoolmaster

in the emplo of the Church Missionary Society) and T omas Rhodes. These three persons

have been a on time in the Gallinas. , It is some time since they were in the Colony. They

live among the inhabitants of the Gallinas, who are Slave dealers. Never saw them em-

nyed in any trade at the Gallinas. There are many more persons belonging to Sierra

one at the Gallinas. ' .

Pedro Blanche and Rameau are the principal Slave dealers at the Galhnas; he believe:

them to be Spaniards. _
Deponent was at the Gallinas last November.

 

Before,—-The 'Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justiee, the King’s Advocate,

and James Boyle; Esquire,

Government House, 218t January 1831.

Paasouiuv appeared Mr. Lo an Honk, the Collector of Customs, who being duly

sworn on the Holy Evangelists of ilmighty God, deposeth and saith, That he has been liln
t e

 

’ Samuel Wilson was prosecuted to conviction at the Special Sessions held in 1831.

. f Peter Jordan was taken and chained, but in the night, attempting to escape by swimming over the

met, he Was drowned. His body was found the next morning and recognized.
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f :- thirteen ears, durin the whole of which period he . believes the
gitegfi“ idiiap in has grevailed. geponent does not recollect an particnler circling.
stances, but foun s §is statement on general report, and the seyeral investigations Whych
have taken place at the Police Ofliee. Does .not recollect eny instanceof: persons hem
brought up at the Sessions, and tried for this efi'ence dunnfle adrnmistration of the
Government by Sir Charles Macarthy. Pmseeutions have not n actively carried on b
the Government against offenders of this description, ?renous to the arrival of Lieutenant.
Governor Findlay. Has never known, until lately, 0 any liberated Africans bem reca

tured. Deponent believes the Mandingoes from the oEposite shore are generally t e spur.-
chasers, but thinks persons residiréfi in the Colony are t e kidnappers. . .
A very extensive trade is carri on (by meanspf boats and eanoes) With the Galllhas;

the returns are, in a great measure, in specie, rice, ivory, 8m; thinks the specie is obtained '
lave traders. .

fmgeghhesnt thinks the rincipal persons engaged in trade with the Gallmas a_re the better
class of the Coloured inhabitants, such as Thomas Hamson Parker, John Hamilton Tho '
John Leedham Mo n,' 8w. 8w. Degenent only reeollects two instances of vessels which
had been condemn in the Courts 0 Mixed Commisswns havmg been recaptured. Their
names were the “ Recovery” and " Corsair.” The former was purchased by John Murdon
Brockinton, and the latter by Don Jnan Fernandez.

 

Before,—The Heutenant—Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 21st January 1831.»
ensonuu a axed Bet Jaloo ,(the woman referred to in the Evidence of Mr. Dun:-

cafNoble, and whlhpfvas rodti'zed byfthat gentleman) who being duly sworn upon the Holy
Evangelists of Almi hty od, deposeth and saith! That she lost her son, by name Massamba;
she went into the léandin country, and saw him at a town called Naecy Baeey; he told
her he had been kidnap , and sold by a man named John Black, a subject of the Colony
of Sierra Leone. The hief, on her applieatiop for her son, told her that she must give him
80 (ei hty) bars, equallin about 141. ; she said she was poor, and had not the money; was
oblig to return mthoutier son, who is now In the Mandingo country, where he has late]
been seen. On her return she went to Mr. Noble and told him the circumstances. Mr. Nob e
issued a warrant; the man was apslrehended and taken before the Grand Jury who were
then sitting; she was called before e Grand Jury, and examined.
 

Before,——The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, The King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 22d January 1831.
Mr. Logan Hook again attended, and stated, That the “ Hope,” late the “ Esperanza,”

(formerl condemned m the Court ofMixed Commissions) had some time ago cleared out as
a Britisli' vessel, the property of a Mr. William Henry Savage (a subject and inhabitant of
Sierra Leone) under the command of one J.. Jones. That it had since been stated to
Commodore Collier, that she had returned to this coast for a cargo of slaves.

 

Before,—The Ueutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 22d January 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared William Smith, Esq;n Commissioner of Arbitration, who being

dul sworn upon the Holy Evan elists of A ' hty God, deposeth and saith, That the
" oop," a Dutch vessel, was con emned in the ixed Commission Court in the year 1826.
She was purchased by Commodore Bullen, and called the “ Hope.” She was employed as
a tender to the Maidstone, in reventin the illicit trafiic in slaves,nnder the command of
Lieutenant William Tucker, an captu the “ Prince de Guinea.” Commodore Bullen
subsequently sold her to a person at Princes Island (a Portuguese Colon .) She was then
(in 1827) sent by this person to Bahia, and obtained Brazilian papers, un er the name of the
“ Esperanza.” In 1828 she came to the coast a 'n for a cargo of slaves, and was ca tured,
with her Gaga, 1) His Majesty’s ship “ Sybilitl” the Esperanza being then un er the
command 0 J .Alvar de Cruz Rios. She was condemned in June. or July of the same
year, put up to public auction, and purchased by one William Henry Savage. She quitted
this port on the 12th July, and was reported by the Master of the Santa Ephiginia, on oath
before the King’s Advocate, to have sailed from Ajudah on the 6th October following, with
a cargo of‘ 300 slaves, under the command of the said José Alvar de Cruz Rios. This
vessel has since been employed (as appears by the Parliamentary Papers) in the Slave trade,
and returned to Bahia under the command of the said José Alvar de Cruz'Rios, having arrived
at Bahia on the 5th May 1829, since which time Deponent has lost all trace of her.
The Prince de Guinea was taken by Commodore Bullen’s tender, the before-mentioned

vessel, the “ Hoop” in 1826, and purchased by him as a tender ; was kept by him as such
until the year 1827, when she was offered for sale in this Colony; but Commodore Bullen

not
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,not bein able to rocure a snfiicient price for her, she was taken to the Cape de Verd Islands
and sol to one astinez, a noted slave-dealer, as appears» by the affidavit of the Master of
the “ Tonhuiha” (published in the Parliamentary Papers of 1827.) She was des atched, as
alleged by Martinez, to the Brazils with salt, under the name of the “ Volante.” S e obtained
Brazilian Papers in the Brazils; called the “ Vingador,” returned to the coast, and was cap-
tured ofl‘ Wydah, with a car 0 of slaves, by Commodore Collier. She was then bought at
public auction by John M on Brockinton, and called the “ Perseverance,” afterwards con-
demned in the Court of Vice Admiralty in this Colony for breach of Revenue Laws, 8w.
The " Naufa Abaneirha” was captured by Captain George Willes, in His Majesty’s sloop

“ Brazen,” in 1825; was bought by him as a tender, and called the “ Black Nymph.” She
was afterwards sold by Captain Willes to Commodore Bullen at Princes Island, at the time
he (Commodore Bullen) sold the “ Hope.” Commodore Bullen brought her to this Colony,
and not bein able to procure the price he demanded for her, sent her, along with the
“ Prince de nines,” to the Cape de Verdislands, Where he sold her to Martinez, who sent
her to the Brazils, and obtained Brazilian Papers for her. She came on the coast again, and
was taken by Commodore Collier with a cargo of slaves, and condemned in the Mixed Com-
mission Court on 1 1 th April 1829. She was urchased at public auction, after condemnation,
by Commodore Collier, who named her t e “ Dallas,” and is said to have sold her to
Saul Solomons, a merchant of St. Helena.
The “ Arsenia” was ca tured and condemned in 1828; bought b Commodore Collier, and

called the “ Paul Pry.” he was subsequently sold to Ferreira, of rinces Island, a notorious
slave—dealer.
The “ Trajano,” captured and condemned in 1827, was sold at public auction to Walter

Atkins, a merchant of this Colony, and called the “ Corsair.” She was subsequently sold
b him to Jnan Fernandez, the agent of the notorious slaveodealer Francisco Feliz de Sousa.
aiviaa Chamber, residin at Whydah; by him she was called “ La Hassé,” proceeded down
the coast, and obtain papers at Princes Island as a Portuguese vessel. This vessel was
captured on her way to the Brazils, with a cargo of slaves, by His Majesty’s ship “ Sybille,”
Commodore Collier, and condemned in June 1829. The " Hassé” being very rotten, sank
before her condemnation, and her remains now lie in the harbour.
The Spanish schooner “ Gertrudes,” was condemned on the 2d of Februa 1828, and

was purchased at public auction b James Mardon Brockinton, who ed her the
“ Recove .” He sent her to Rio de aneiro, to Messrs. Platt, Milne 8!. Reid, his owners,
who sold er to José Botcher de S uiro, Mateo Am 0 8:. Co., of that place, who procured
for her Brazilian papers, and called er the " Ceres. ’ She was again ca tured on this
coast under this name, with a cargo of slaves, by His Ma'esty’s gun-brig “ lumper,” and
condemned on the 22d September 1829, and sold at pu lic auction to Benjamin Camp-
bell, a’merchant of this Colony, who afterwards sold her to one William Heaviside, who
came to the Colony on a tradin voyage. '

This Deponent has heard 0 many others, but cannot depose to them on oath; but he
believes them to be engaged in the Slave trade. The names of the vessels of which
Deponent has heard, are as follows, viz. :—

The “ Manly,” Atkins, owner, sent to Cape de Verd for sale.
Thfs“ Speculator,” “ Swallow,” an “ Omega," purchased by Brockinton; sent to the

Brazi .
The “ Clarence,” purchased by Benjamin Campbell, never heard of, after sailing from

this ort.
Tiiia “ Marianna,” sold to one Vergalina, and seen aftei'wards at Cacheo, fitted for

slaves. The “ Donna Barbara,” purchased by an American named Pollard, agent of José
Alvar de Cruz Rios.
The “ Almirante,” purchased by the same person, previously purchased by the late

Kenneth Macaulay.
The “ Clarence ’ alias “ Octario,”~ said to be on the coast slaving.
The “ La Laure,” “ Adventure,” “ Clarita,” and “ Diana,” also.

 

Before,—-The Lieutenant—Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,

\ and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 27th January 1831.

PERSONALLY a peared Prince Stoker, who being duly sworn upon the Holy Evangelist:
of Almi hty God, geposeth and saith, That he is a minister ofone of the dissenting societies
of this golony. That in this society there are about 150 (one hundred and fifty) liberated
Africans, who reside within the limits of Freetown. The society to which Deponent
belongs never kept any regular account of the births and deaths among the members, until
1825. No account of the deaths was kept until 1828.
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Before,—-—The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyk, Esquire.

Government House, 27th January 1831.
PERSONALLY ap eared the Rev. David Morgan, who bein% duly sworn on the Holy

Evangelists of Almiahty God, de seth and saith, That he is olomal Chaplain ; that the
deaths among the Afi‘icans genera ly, in 1830, were 52 (fifty-two) in Freetown, and of that
number 19 (nineteen) were liberated Africans, as near as Deponent can ascertain. This
number is entire] independent of the liberated Africans who died in the department.
The number 0 haptisms in the same year is 24 (twenty-fonr), of whom 8 (eight) were

children of liberated Africans. '
Deponent is of opinion that numbers die of whom norecord is taken, and numbers are

born who are never brought for the purpose of being baptised.

 

Before,-—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House,,a7th January 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared Mr. Kughtley, a Wesleyan missionary, who being duly sworn

upon the Holy Evangelists of Almi hty God, deposeth and saith, That in the period from
January to 31st December 1830, hefims ba tised 24 (twenty-four) adults, and 55 (fifty-five)
infants, of which latter, 5o (fifty) were of iberated African families. Deponent keeps no
register of the deaths in his socnety, but he furnishes the Rev. David Morgan, the Colonial
chaplain, with the number he bunes. Deponent will 've a return of the baptisms for the
previous years to the year 1830, but he fears it will not e so satisfactory as could be wished,
n consequence of the station having been at intervals without a minister, during which
period the accounts could not of course be kept. Deponent believes the deaths are reported
to him accurately, but that many births occur of which he is not informed; and he is
confirmed in this from the circumstance of children from 4 (four) to 10 (ten) years of age
being brought to him for baFtism. Deponent has refused to administer the rite of baptism

1to man of the children of berated Africans, on account of the parents not having been
mam .
 

Before,—The Lieutenant—Governor, the Chief Justice, the King's Advocate,

and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 27th January 1831,

PERSONALLY appeared Mr. John Weeks, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists
of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he was formerly in charge of the school at
Regent. emembers about the month of November 1829, three strangers (liberated
Africans) were seen in Regent, who took possession of ahouse which had been formerly
vacated. They staid two days, during which time they were observed straying about the
back part of the school, at the place where the children were in the habit of going for wood.
They asked several of the very small children to go to the house the were occupying, to
eat with them. Previous to going to church in the evening. the chi dren of the school,
agreeably to custom, were drawn up in a line for the purpose of being counted. When they
were marching to church (it being dark) three of them disappeared: they were not missed
till the next mornino, when Deponent was informed by the native schoolmaster. A search
was set on foot, am? all the constables were sent upon it. It having been discovered that
the men alluded to had left the house, Deponent sent (to Freetown) persons who were
acquainted with them, along with constables to find them, and bring them back to Regent,
which they did. They stated, that they had come to Regent to see their country people,
and the person to whom the house belonged had given them leaveto stay there. They
admitted that they had left Re ent for Freetown at four A. M., to see a brother who was
sick. Deponent sent to Mr. lhvey to assist him in the investigation, Mr. Davey being
then a magistrate. Three other children who belonged to the school, were sent for as
evidence against the men, who deposed that they and another ho had also been requested
to go and eat at the strangers’ house, when they were going to c urch, but that they had
refused. Deponent has every reason to believe the three boys first" mentioned were kid-
napped. The men were committed to Freetown gaol, but for want of sufficient evidence
they were acquitted. The stran ers had given the children, who gave evidence a inst
them, some coppers, evidently to induce them to go with them. The children who isap.‘
peared were none of them more than 9 (nine) years of age.

In 1830, about the month of March, a man (a liberated African, formerly belonging to
Regent) came to Regent evidently with the intention of kidnap ing some of the children.
He was observed about eight o’clock in the evening at the gate olP the school yard, in the
act of enticing some of the children to go and feast at his countryman’s house; some of the
elder boys came to Deponent and informed him, he went out in search of the man, who had
in the meantime disafipeared. Deponent sent the constables in search of him; he was
apprehended before t e next morning and 10d ed in the gaol. He was brought up before
Deponent for examination. He gave no satislgctory explanation of his conduct, but it w.”
proved that be had given one of the boys some money, and had endeavoured to entice him

'to
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to go and take supper with him. Deponent having lost the former children only a few
months before, and the evidence in this case being sufficient to send him to trial, thought

it advisable to send to the King’s Advocate for his opinion, who replied, that if the evidence

were not sufficient to send him to trial, he could commit him to' the house 0f correction as a
vagrant, for one month, which Deponent did. Has since learnt from Mr. Cole, that this
same man is brought up again for slave trading: knows the man by sight, but not by name.

A man helongin to Regent, a sawyer by trade, obtained a girl (a liberated African) from

Captain Owen, at emando Po. Deponent inquired if he had an indenture, and . found

that Captain Owen had given him a note, either to the Colonial Secretary, or to Mr. Cole.

recommending him as a pro r person to have the girl bound to him This girl, to
Deponent’s knowledge, had 0 ten run away from her master, who had paid each time a

quarter of a dollar for her recovery. The last time she ran away, she took u her residence

in a house upon the Kissey road. The master having been informed where s e was, applied

for a constable to fetch her back. On arrivin at the house upon the Kissey road, he was
told that she had been there, but had left the gay before, After two or three weeks’ search

after her, the man gave it up as fruitless, and she has never since been heard of. Deponent

having reason to suspect that- the girl had been kidnapped, and sold as a slave, sent for the

man in whose house she had been, who stated that the girl had been in his house, but had

left him in the night, and gone to his neighbour, for whom Deponent sent. The latter, on

his wa to Regent to be examined, stated to the constable that the former man and he had

quarre led about the money for which the girl was sold, and that he had said he woald

inform, as he had not received his portion by two dollars. He said the girl was sold at-

Snsan’s Bay, to a Mandingo man; and that he (the latter man) had been at the police

office before for selling a girl. On the following morning, however, he denied these asser-

tions, when brought u for examination.
These are the only acts. which have come under Deponent’s own observation, but he has

no doubt, that were an investigation into the number of liberated African apprentices in the
villages to be instituted, it would be found that a great number of them had disappeared,

and these, Deponent has no doubt, have principally been sold as slaves.
Deponent, from a three years’ residence at Regent, is led to believe that the births exceed

the deaths very materially, even when the deaths among the newly-imported Africans and
those arising from small pox are taken into consideration.
Deponent is not aware of more than one instance of liberated Africans leaving the settle-

ment from an anxiety to return to their native country. This solitary instance was a native
of the Cussoo country.
The last liberated Africans sent to Deponent were Soosoos, about 50 in number, of whom

15 (fifteen) were women, and the remainder boys.

 

Before,—-—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate;
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 2d February 1831.

PERSONALLY ap eared Mr. Frederick Campbell, who being duly sworn on the Holy

Evangelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he has been 15 (fifteen) years on

this coast in the Colonial service ; that he has been located at the Bannana islands since

the year 1821. In the year 1824, to the best of his recollection, a boy was taken off the
island by an American, and sold at the Gallinas. The bay was recovered, by which means
it was discovered that the kidnapper was an American. his American now lives at Kasey,
near the Gallinas. From the number of liberated Africans who have disappeared from the
Bannanas, he has reason to believe that numbers of them are kidnapped. The numbers
which have disappeared could not have died without Deponent’s knewledge.

Deponent is not aware, personally, of any case of kidnapping, until that of Samuel
Wilson, who was tried for this crime. In the month of June last (1830) .he received orders
from the Government to roceed to the Sherbro to demand five liberated Africans (boys)
who had been sold by eter Jordan and Samuel Wilson, and to secure the ersons of
Jordan and \Vilson. The former was drowned in attemptingto esea e. 0n eponent’s
reaching York Island, he found that these boys, who had been in Tue er’s possessnon, had
passed into that of Cleveland, who had con uered Tucker.
De onent immediately wrote to Clevelan , demanding the he s as being British subjects,

and esirin them to be delivered to him at York Island, and our of them were recovered.
in two or t ee days. The remaining one jumpedoverboard, and is now in the possession
of a Frenchman, by name Sabatier, in whose hands the other four had been. This Sabatier
was at the Plaintains a short time a o; where he is now Deponent. does not- know, but
thinks he is about to leave in the “ irginie,” a French schooner.
The Slave trade is extensively can'ied on at the Sherbro by Frenchmen : Deponent has

seen no less than seven vessels at Seabar at one time. A few days ago there were four
slave vessels laying at the Plaintains, within 17 miles from the Bannanas, a port of the
Colon , about nine leagues from Freetown. A party of the crew of one of these vessels
land at Deponent’s farm, in Southbay, ans! 9. part in the town, from which circumstance
Degenent apprehended an attack.

n one occasion, a vessel Deponent knew to be a pirate,1ay off the Bannanas for several

days, which caused suspicion in Deponent’s mind that the island would be attacked.

Dep60nent ascertained that she had three guns aside, one pivot gun, and sixty men, and
3 4. that
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that part of her crew had belonged to the piratical vessel “ Presidente,” which was captured
by the “ Black Joke,” and lost upon the Turtle ‘Islands, on her way to this Colony for
adjudication. Caulker, the Chief of the Plaintams, informed Deponent of her being a
pirate, and said he knew several of the crew whom he had seen on board the “ Presidente,”
when he went down to assist them when she was lost. The people on board inquired the
state of the Bannanas as to defence.
While Deponent was at York Island he heard that there was 9. Maroon, a relation of the

Thorpe’s, by name Cope, who was .clerk to the notorious slave-trader Tucker, and that he
was seen ing on board the various slave vessels with H Tucker. De neat met
‘William horpe, one of Co ’s relations, and told him he wo d bring him( pe) up to
Freetown, if he could lay is hands upon him. At the Plaintains he heard of another
Maroon, by name Andrew Gray, a relation of John Leedham Morgan (who said he gbried
in his conduct), who was clerk to one of the most notorious slave-dealers at the Gallinas.
Morgan is himselfa Maroon, and was formerly employed in the engineer department in this
Colony, and was also a Commissioner of the Court of Requests.
While De nent was at the Gallinas, he ascertained that William Easmon, a Nov.

Scotian set er, is engaged in the Slave trade, alon with several of his relations, to a great
extent. Deponent has received letters, and thi 5 he has some now in his possession,
from this man; Easmon, complaining that several of his own connections have been made
slaves of by the Tucker party. . A
Deponent recollects an instance of 9. Sierra Leone man, who sold goods to a native in

the Sherbro. This native, to re a him, was about to sell a slave, but was preventeiby
the vigilance of a man nam izell. Deponent is firmly of olfiinion that the Sierra
Leone people, who trade at the Gallinas, receive money in payment or the goods they sell,
well knowmg that such money is received by the Galhnas people in payment for theirslaves.
Deponent also knows that the ersons who trade for rice do not bring it to this Colony,
but carry it to the Gallinas, w ere the receive payment from the source above stated.
The procure a better price‘ at the ' as than at the Colony, and also elude their
ere itors. B this means the doubloons and dollars, which are brought out in the Spanish
slaving vesse find their way up to this Colon . Considers that the ter part of the
Maroon traders, with the exception of Ste hen abbidon, new trade or ave traded to the
Gallinas. Knows that John Leeth organ, William Hamilton Thorpe, James Smith,
Thomas Harrison Parker, Eli Ackim, and his son Henry Ackim, John Thomas, Jacob
George, 8w, are in the habit of trading there. These'persons have always been considered
respectable in the Colony.

Deponent heard a few days a , that there are several liberated Africans in slavery in the
Bagroo river (a principal rivero the Sherbro), but his information on this point is not
complete. Thinks a great many liberated Africans are kidnapped from the Colony, and
taken to the Gallinas. Knows one instance. A Mandingo man came down to Kent, 'and
lived some time in the house of a discharged soldier named Ap leton. He was going as a
assenger in a. canoe to the Gallinas; one of the people at Eent, who had been long

rocated, was told by the dischar ed soldier to go to a town called Baba, alon with the
Mandingo man. He did so, an the canoe met them at Babe, where they em ked and
roceeded on their way to the Sherbro. From stress of weather, however, the were com-

pelled to put into a place where there was a canoe from Kent, in which 'was one ohn Senior,
who brought the liberated African back to Kent, but did not bring the Mandingo man,
This happened about four months ago. '
The population of the Bannanas is about five or six hundred. Deponent thinks that the

births are in Froportion to the deaths as six to one. This calculation includes all the resi-
dents, both 0 d inhabitants, and newly-located liberated Africans. Disease or sickness very
seldom occurs at the Bannanas, with the exception of ulcers, with which the inhabitants
are infected from the slave vessels.

There have been no Missionaries at the Bannanas since the year 1828. In June last.
Messrs. Hamsell 8c Davey were there. At that time there were a great many liberated
Africans anxious to be married. Deponent was absent, but had previously been informed
b Mr.Thomas Cole, that these gentlemen were coming down to solemnize matrimony.
Fhr some reason or other, which Deponent is not aware of, the ceremony was not performed.

 

Before,——The Lieutenant—Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,

and James Boyle, Esquire.

- Government House, ad February 1831.
Psasonsuv appeared Mr. William Cole, who being dul sworn upon the Holy

Evangelists of Almightinod, deposeth and saith, That he was écmmissioner of Appraise-
ment and Sale to the ixed Commission Court, from October 1824 to July 1825, when
being about to embark for England, he delivered over the documents and papers in his
possession to the Court, and received from that Court a general release. Deponent
returned from England and resumed the duties in February 1826‘

Until lately, it was not customary for foreigners to purchase vessels themselves at the
auctions“; they were generally purchaSed for them by merchants of the colony on
commission.
The “ Esperanza” was purchased on the 4th June 1828, by William Henry Savage, for

7101. The papers were made out in the name of a foreigner. Deponent knows the
money
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money was rocured from a foreigner, and perfectly recollects having received several
Brazilian dol ars. -
The " Vin ador” was purchased on the 29th September 1826, under the name of the

“ Prince ofr uinea,” by Lieutenant Tucker, of the to al navy, as agent for Commodore

Bullen, in whose name the bill of sale was made out. ghe was afterwards brought in and.

sold on the 24th June 1828, to John Marden Brockinton for 8801. She was afterwards

condemned as the “ Perseverance,” in the Court of Vice Admiralty.
Deponent believes the system of kidnapping has prevailed in the Colony for the last six‘

or seven years. Thinks this s stem has been carried on by the liberated Africans thema
selves, who as masons and mec amcs were formerly employed upon the ublie works, by
which means they were enabled to procure luxuries. for themselves and families. Not being
now able, from the sto page of these works, to procure these luxuries by legitimate trade,
they have been induce to turn. to slave trading. The Government, in Deponent’s opinion,
have done every thing in their power_to pet a stop to this trade; but it is camed on

so systematically as to defy any police. The liberated Africans are the thieves; the

Mandingoes the receivers.
About four or five years ago there were two or three instances of persons being prosecuted

and convicted of this crime, but their sentences were commuted.
During the time Deponent was a public auctioneer he has known instances of liberated.

Africans paying him 601. and 701. at one time for articles purchased at auction, and he has
knoWn thesepersons a few weeks before not to have been worth a shilling. Deponent had
many opportunities of knowing their trade, conceivin it his duty, as an auctioneer. to
inquire into their means, to k_now how far he might Ewe them credit. The persons prin-
cipally engaged in the kidnapping trade are those who ave had the advantage of Missionary
education.
The Gallinas is one of the mast marts for the Slave trade on the coast, and no doubt

many liberated Africans have 11 carried down there and sold.
Deponent believes that almost all the Cussoos return to their own country, their habits

not at all fitting them for this Colony. This people are all agriculturists, and there is not
sufficient land in this Colon for them to cultivate. Deponent has known several who have
returned. This remark app ies equally to women and children as to males. Cannot say
what number of this nation may come into this Colony annually.
Deponent believes the absence of the s uadron to be the cause of so much slaving on

this part of the coast, which is shown by e number of slave vessels sent into the Port of

Freetown by the squadron on their passage up from Leeward.
In almost every native town near this Colony, liberated Africans will be found, apparently

trading. In the Malacary there are a great number of slaves.
A few weeks ago, when Deponent was at his timber-factory in the Malaeary, a vessel

showing no colours passed, and althou h fired at, did not hoist them. Deponent had a

conversation with one of the chiefs, an taxed him with having sold slaves to this vessel,
whenhe admitted having sold fifteen. The slaves were marched over land to the Rio Pougas,

and then shipped. The vessel was Spanish. Deponent saw the supercargo, whom he
recognized and remembered to have seen at Sierra Leone before as captain of a slave vessel.
Deponent has heard that the vessel took away about 300 (three hundred) slaves froni the

Rio Pon . Has no doubt some of the slaves were liberated Africans, from the circum-

stance 0 their going into the Malacary, where they can purchase them so cheap. There
are no slaves on the coast so cheap as the liberated Africans; the water communication
being so convenient, forty or fifty canoes generally leave the Colony within the 24 (twenty-
four) hours.
Deponent witnessed, a short time back, a Mandingo man attem ting to entice a liberated

African boy into a canoe. He reported the circumstance to Mr. homas Cole, the Assistant
Superintendent of liberated Africans, by whom the boy was secured, but the Mandingo man
had decamped. This took place near the Liberated African Department.

Deponent is of opinion that the Mandingoes may carry away in the night time, from any
of the landing places, any number of liberated Africans they choose. The liberated Africans
carried away are children or idiots principally.

 

Before,——The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire. .

Government House, 9th February 1831.

PERSONALLY ap cared Mr. William Benjamin Pratt, who being duly sworn on the Holy
Evangelists of Almlghty God, deposeth and saith, That he has been in the service of the

Colonial Government, rinciIPally m the Liberated African Department, for the last ten years.
Has been manager of ork or the last three or four years. Believes from report, that the
s tem of kidnapping has prevailed for some time. Deponent heard (he believes at
ouricario) that it has prevailed since the time of General Turner, when the people lost

their usual emplo out under Government, and' were forced, in consequence, to have

recourse to the tra e. The first instance of slave—trading and kidnapping which came to
Deponent’s knowledge, was Mr. Frederick Cam bell’s recovering the two he s whom
Wilson had kidnapped. This Deponent was himsel sent in November last, by the overnor
to Moribiah, to recover a woman and a boy who it was stated had been kidnapped from the
Colony and sold into slavery there, and there detained. On the night upon which h: left

364. ' . ierra
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Sien'a Leone, Deponent sto ped at a place named Ro-English, the facto of Mr. Henry

Weston, a merchant of this olony. When there, Deponentmquired of Mr. toneer.Wes~
ton’s clerk, if he had heard of liberated Africans being kidnapped from Sierra Leone. He
answered, that he had been informed that such was the fact, for that he himself had been in
the country trading some time previous, and one of_the chefs (whose name Deponent does
not recollect) asked Mr. Stone “ Why he did not bring'some King’s people to sell? for that

he knew that the pe0ple from Freetown had been in the habit of: bringing themfrequentl .”

This Deponent left Ro—English next morning in a boat, and having received the above in orb

mation, resolved to look narrowly into every canoe he fell in With. Depoiient fell in with a

canoe and endeavoured to come up with it. The people on board made every effort to avoid
him. On closing, he saw she was deeply laden, and remarked that there were a number of

heads in the bow. When Deponent 0t alongside he saw five persons in the bow, whom be

supposed to be liberated Africans. e knew two of them from their marks. Two were of
the Pawpaw Nation, and three of the Baconka Nation. He knew this from their language

and marks. Deponent asked the man what he was goin to do with these peoPIe, and

was answered, “ Nothing ;” when one of the hberated Africans, a Calabar man, called out

“ Massa! Massa! me Slave!” The man at the helm said, he was no Slave. A man in

Deponent’s boat, named Banna, said there were a great number in the bow of the canoe.

Deponent ordered him to jam into the canoe and ascertain what they were, and he (Banna)
reported they were Slaves. he men in the canoe attempted to throw Banna overboard,

and the canoe ultimately escaped, got the slaves on shore, and Deponent saw nothing more
of them afterwards. One of the boatmen in Deafnent’s boat said he knew one of the people
in the canoe ; called him by name, and said he ad seen him in Freetown the same week in
which Deponent had left for Moribiah.
On Deponent’s arrival at Moribiah he went to the chief’s house and delivered the Gover-

nor’s letter, requiring him to deliver up the liberated African girl and b0 . The chief told
him he would hold the Palaver next day. Deponent ascertained that t e girl was in the
possession of a man named Antony, who stated to Deponent, that the girl had been put in
awn with him by 9. Sierra Leone man, named Suree Gaboo. Deponent went the next day

to the Palaver House, and read the Governor’s letter to the chiefs, who asked Antony what
he would do'! He refused to give u the girl without being paid the amount she was in
pawn to him for. De‘ponent refuse to enter into any negociation of the kind with him.
Antony then offered, i Deponent procured Suree Gaboo’s wife, he would give the girl up to
her, and she might restore her to this Deponent. This proposition Deponent refused to
accede to, being aware that. by the countryI law, Antony would then have it in his power to
make her a slave until she aid him for t e girl. After considerable negociation, Antony
consented to give up the gir , but told Deponent he could not have the boy, as he had been
sold some time. When the girl had been given up, Antony came to Deponent in the evening
and asked him for some rum, and said to him, “ Now we are friends I may as well tell on

the truth: I bou ht that girl from Suree Gaboo.” Said he gave sixty-six (66) bars for er,
produced his boo , and pointed out the articles with which he had purchased her. Depo-

nent copied it; it is as follows, viz.

Bars.

1 Gun - - - - - - - - - - - 10
4 fathoms Blue Baft - - - - - - - - 4

3 -- White dltto - — - — - - - - 3

4 — Check - - - - - - - - - 4

5 — Shalloon - - - - - - - - 5

£11 — Print . - - - . - - - - 7

adms Handkerchiefs - - - - - - .. - 3

3 fathoms Salin Stripe - - - - - - - .. 3

Tobacco - - - .. - - .. - - _ 13

Powder - - - - - - - - - - 9

Rum - - - - - .. - - - _ - 4

Knife - - - o - n d- _ _ _ _ l "

TOTAL - - 66

. Deponent asked if Suree Gaboo had sold any more Slaves; Antony laughed at the ups-
tion. On being further questioned, said he had himself purchased (7) seven from 1111.
When Deponent expressed his surprize, Antony said that was nothing, for every vessel that
went out of the Rio Pongas carried liberated Africans. That a vessel had lately left the
Rio Pongas with (30) thirt liberated Africans; that they were sold cheaper than others;
and that John Ormond ha agents in almost every town in the Soombia country. Depo-
nent went to Antony’s store, and there saw (4) four pair of slave irons, and goods usually em-
ployed m the purchase of slaves. Deponent brought back the girl to Freetown, and
delivered her over to the Liberated African Department.
The next case was that of a man named Fortunée, who had stolen a girl.
About three weeks or a month back Deponent went on a mission to Fouricaria, in the

s_oombia country, by order of the Lieutenant-Governor, to claim the restoration of seve
liberated Africans (numbers unknown) who were stated to be kept in slavery there. The
man who am the information was a Krooman, who a peared very reluctant to ive it. He
had been mng at Fouricaria for five or six years, an said he knew all the fiaves gill??-

1e
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While on the way to Fouricaria‘, Deponent obtained from him information of six liberated

Africans, who were detained there in slavery, with the names of the persons in whose pos~

session they were, and of those who had sold them. Deponent upon this occasion heard

of several cases of selling liberated Africans into slavery, and was informed of the names, as

well of the persons who
he received,~and upon the accuracy of which he can rely, there are now at Fouricaria fif-

teen liberated Africans, whose names he will mention, besides one at Gambia and two at

Bannalya. Deponent brought back to the Colony two liberated Africans who had been

enslaved, making a total of twenty, whom he had ascertained to have been kidnapped.

Deponent begs to refer to his notes, from which he gives the following information relative

to the above—mentioned eighteen (18) individuals.

Deponent heard from the Krooman Jack, and has every reason to believe him, that a man

named John Brown (a Sierra Leone man) gave a Papaw girl, a liberated African, to a man

named Lucenay, and told him to sell her for her value in rice. Brown sent a boy, named

Jemmy, livin at Kissy, with Lucenay and the girl, with directions to get and bring him

the rice, for w ich she was sold; but on their arrival, a dispute arising between Lucenay

and a man named Lamina, as to who should have the girl, she was taken from them by a

third part , and is now in the-hands of Sierra Booboo, and Lamina Susee, the chief, and

Palaver an, of Fonricaria.

The next instance of which Deponent heard. was of a man named Jemmy, being at Free?

town, who had sent a boy by Ausumana Macgourar for sale at Fouricaria. He was pur-

chased b a man named Sierra Fahtoodie, for some rice and a bull. Deponent was informed

that Mr. William'Thorpe, of Freetown, saw him, and wished to get him restored; but Sierra

Fah’ooodie would not sell him.
Jack the Krooman, that he had seen a liberated African boy named “ John,” at Fouri-

caria, who told him that he had been kidnapped by a Mandingo man from the water side,

near Kissy. Jack said he had taken charge of him, and given him to a Kissy boy named

Jammy, whom he desired to take him over to Sierra Leone; but that about a Week after-

wards he saw the same Jemmy with the boy John, and another boy at Fouricaria; and on

asking him why he brought the boy back, he said he was desired to do so by Thomas

Shower) the constable at Kissy, who told him to sell them both. Jack the Krooman

brought the boy to Sierra Leone a second time; but falling sick he could not have the case

investigated, but desired the boy to mention the circumstance to his master, Mr. William

Henry Savage. .
Deponent was informed, that a man named Carlocco stole an Eboo man from Freetown.

The person kidnapped could not 3 eak English. ‘He was carried to a small town called

Bocaria, in the Fouricaria river. arlocco is now in gaol.

A man named Jemmy, living 'in Freetown, and 'who Deponent thinks can still be found, is

said to havesold a boy to Ausumana Krootman. Jemmy owed Ausumana Krootman ten

dollars ($ 10) foi‘ tobacco, in payment of which debt he gave him this boy. A man named

Polly, now in gaol, Deponent was informed, sold a boy to Saloonoo for two bulls. Saloonoo

gold his purchase, two days after, at a town called Tassy, one day’s walk from Fouricaria,

or a horse.
John Kie, cockswain of Deponent’s boat, informed Deponent that he had seen a woman

in Sierra Booboo’s house in Fouricaria, who told him that she was at Sierra Leone woman,

had lived at Kissy, and was sold by Peter Wilson. .

A man named Sierra Moodie alias Mahommadoo, at Fouricaria, has a little child in his

house, about a year old, which he stole from Sierra Leone.

A man named Carr Stephen at Fouricaria, has a Pawpaw boy, whom he bought from the

Timmauees.
Thomas Shower, the constable, already convicted, sold a girl to Lausana, who brought

her to Fouricaria. _

.In June last, aman named Buchanan Pratt, informed Deponent, Buchanan Pratt saw

a Bacongo girl and a Popoe boy at Bocania; the girl’s name was Jenny, the boy’s, Thomas.

The irl said she had been sold by a man named Ocorro. formerly gaol—keeper at Regent.

The 50y said he had been sold by a man named Blackhole, living near Nicolls Bridge, in

Freetown.
A Krooman, named Ben, took a paper to Mr. Joseph Emerson’s house. . This aper con.

tained the names of persons who had got liberated Africans in their possesswn in ouricaria.

Mr. Joseph Emerson was not at home ; but Ben showed it to his brother, William Emerson,

and requested that it might be taken to the governor. William Etnerson said, it must not

be taken to the governor, lest Sadoo and Carlocco, who traded With him, might get into

trouble from the white ecple. Jack, another Krooman, said, “ Come, let us go and tell

Mr. Cole, then.” On t e way they met a man named Brown, who desu‘ed them not to tell;

when Jacksaid, “ Stop, then! hen we catch Sadoo and Carlocco, then we will te .”

Polly, a man who is in gaol, came over to Fouricaria, to ransom a boy of his who had

been stolen, but did not succeed.
A Jolifl‘e woman went to Fouricaria to redeem her child, who had been stolen from her 1-.

A woman. named Mary, also lost a child. now in Founcaria. Th
ese

 

*' Since convicted of slave dealing.
1' Vidc Mr. Duncan Noble’s and Betsy Jolifie’s evidence, sist January 1831.
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These are the (15) fifteen cases, of which Deponent heard at Fouricaria. Besides these,

there are two more known to bethere, one of whom sold for (5) five bulls.

A boy, named Jemmy, who lives in Freetown, and who has been employed in selling

slaves, can give much valuable information if secure from punishment.

A woman, named Jolifi'e Mary, sold a girl to pa the price of a canoe, which had been

broken in her possession. That is, she ve up e 'rl in pawn until the money be paid,

which, if not done within a certain time, s e will be so d.

Lyiah, a man at Soombiah, sold a boy named Sierra. Fahtoody.

A Bacon 0 boy, named William, said he was sold by a constable at Kissy.

A Jolifl‘e , named Thomas, was sent by his mistress to buy palm oil. He was seized

by some Man 'ngo men, near King Tom’s Point, and sold at Banna Lyah.

In every town Deponent visited, he heard of Snree Gaboo, as a notorious slave-dealer.

Deponent mentioned to one of the chiefs, that he (Suree Gaboo) stood a chance of being

han ed, when the Chiefreplied, “ Oh! that is too bad, for we shall then get no more slaves. ’

V§hile in the Scarcies, Deponent saw (4) four schooners there, for the ostensible purh

se of purchasing Colas, but was informed they were there for slaves. Has received this

information under a promise not to give up the name. »

When at Wonkafong, Deponent saw two of John Ormond’s people, who said their master

had purchased (21) twenty-one slaves.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 9th February 1831.

Pnnsoruur appeared Doe alias Jack, who being first duly sworn according tohis country
custom, viz. on salt and dust, and then duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty
God, deposeth and saith, That John Brown took afirl, (a Pawpaw girl) and gave her to

Luoenay, by the hands of a man named Jemmy. ueenay took her to Fouricaria; when
there, Deponent saw Lucenay and Lahmina. Susee quarrel, when Sierra Booboo took her.
Deponent speaks Soosoo. Jemmy ran away the da Deponent and Mr. Pratt returned.
De nent saw in gaol another boy who accompanied emmy to Fouricaria. three times.

emm sold another liberated African to Ausumana. Macgowror, for rice and a hull.

This eponent corroborated the evidence of the last Deponent, William Benjamin Pratt,

to the exec tion of the gut relative to Polly having gone to Fouricaria to ransom a. boy of
his who has been stolen om him.

 

Before,-—The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 9th February 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared Mr. Thomas Cole, Assistant Superintendent of liberated Africans,
who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almi hty God, deposeth and saith,
That he cannot state whether the liberated Africans, from 51o neighbouring countries, are
generally in the habit of returning to their native count or no. The Soosoo men are some-
times in the habit of returning, but De onent does not t ink any great number could return
without his knowled , it being the uty of the managers to report the circumstance to
him. Deponent reco lects One instance in which a number of Soosoos, landed from the
“ Vingador,” left. They were about thirty or forty in number; they were located at Wel-
lington, where Deponent was of Opinion they would have been more contented, there being
a number of their countrymen who had been located there some time. In cases where
liberated Africans have applied for leave to return to their own country, or where the chiefs
have applied for such leave for them, they have been allowed to return. Africans of the

Cussoo Nation have rarely been brought into the Colony until within the last three or four
years, and even then not in very great numbers. Within the last four years probably (800)

eight hundred of this nation have been imported from the windward, and of these possibly

(250) two hundred and fifty may have returned to their country.
Deponent has been in the department since 1818.
About four years ago, two Soosoos were detected in the act of_ kidnapping b0 s from

Waterloo. In addition to the case upon record, Deponent recollects the case of a who
was found on board a Slave vessel, and who had been sold by a man named Godfrey. This
man absconded to the Gallinas, and thus being out of the jurisdiction of the Co ony, he
could not be ap rehended.
De nent be 'eves the number of liberated Africans recovered from Slavery, since the

amv of Lieutenant—Govemor Findlay, to be about (25) twenty-five. '
Deponent recollects Major Ricketts sendingvup Mr. Charles Jones, of the Liberated

African Department, to Berika, to recover two liberated Africans, who had been sold.

Mr. Jones was not successful; but the boys have since been recovered, and the persons who
sold them convicted. /,
. This Deponent produced the two Returns called for by the Commissioners at their meet-
ing ofthe 5th January last, which having been duly attested, were received, and ordered to
be inserted as of record.
 

Before,-
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Before,—The Lientenant~Govemor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,
and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 11th February 1831.

Mr. William Cole attended, and presented a Return, showing the vessels which have

been condemned in the Mixed Commission Court at Sierra Leone, and purchased at public

auction b foreigners, by whom and to whom the bill of sale was made, the date when sold,

and whe er brought in again to this port, and specifying when purchased by masters of

slave vessels.
Having been duly sworn to the truth of the same, it was received, and ordered to be

entered of record.
 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,

, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 1 1th February 1831 .

PERSONALLY appeared Robert Stone, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists of

Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he is in the employ of Mr. Henry Weston, at his

factory in the River Scarcies. Recollects two boys coming to one of the factories, called

Tombo. who claimed his rotection. One of them told him, that he was stolen by a man

named John, a resident at ierra Leone, by whom he had been carried into the Mandingo

country. This boy was afterwards sent down to Deponent to R0. English, he having

been guilty of theft at one of the factories belonging to Mr. Weston. The other boy was

kept at Tombo. When Mr. Pratt arrived, Definent informed him of these circumstances.

Mr. Pratt could not go up at that time, but 1‘. Jones was also informed of the circum-

stance. Whether Mr. Jones brought them down or no, Deponent does not know.

About the be 'nning of the year 1829, a boy who had run away from the country, took

refuge at Mr. fiesmn’s factory. He stated that he was a King’s boy. He told Deponent

the name of the man who had stolen him, but Deponent does not now remember it; some

time after three canoes, full of men, came to the factory, and demanded the boy. Deponent

said the boy belon ed to the King, and he would not give him up. They then went for

the headman Bam a Mimia Lahi, who told Deponent he had no business to come there to

3 oil the river; that the boy belonged to the people, and they must have him. They took

e‘boy from Deponent by force. Deponent told the chief, that if an palaver took place,

he w0uld tell the Governor and Mr. Cole whathad taken place. The c ief replied, “ Never

mind, I will answer the palaver.” Deponent did not mention this circumstance to any

person, until Mr. Pratt went up the river.
Deponent heard there was a girl in the country, who belonged to Sierra Leone.

Deponent does not know what is the trade of the liberated Africans in the country, but

he sees a great many in canoes. Two boys came in a canoe to the place where Deponent

resided last, and refused to go any further. The headman of the canoe said, that the

reason they would go no further was, that their rice was done. Deponent had no means

of ascertaining from the boys their reasons. Deponent saw no oods in the canoe for the

purchase of rice. All the persons in the boat were liberated Africans. The persons Who

trade for rice, purchase it with merchandize, and not with money. De nent was informed

that the canoe above mentioned, belonged to a man who resided in ierra Leone, named

Blackhole. The two boys got into another canoe, and returned to Sierra Leone.

Deponent reeollects, when at Touvoodoogoo, a headman named Mai Moodoo, asked

him why he had not brought some liberated Africans with him. The conversation was as

follows:——Mai Moodoo said, “ They, landIOrd,” (meaning Deponent) “ why have you not

brought me some boys ’3” Deponent said, “ What boys ?” The chief replied, “ King’s

boys.” De onent said, “ Do you think King George sends his ships to sea to catch boys,

and I must Bring them to you to sell for slaves ?” The chief replied, “ Well field people,”

(meaning the people living in the grass field in the nei hbourhood of Freetown,) “ well field

geolfie do that ’2” Deponent answered, “ Suppose fie d P°°P1e d0 that, I ”0 savey (know)
0 t at.”
 

Before,-—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, the King’s Advocate,

and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 14th February 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared Mr. Walter William Lewis, who being duly sworn on the Holy

Evangelists of Almight God, confirmed in all its particulars the evidence of Mr. William

Smith, Commissionero Arbitration, as delivered and recorded in the minutes of the meeting

of the 22d Janna 1831. .
In addition to t is, be adduced the following evidence: .

In Au st or September 1829, Mr. Benjamm Campbell, a merchant of the Colony, ap-

plied to eponent as Colonial Secrets , for a license for the “ Almn'ante,” for Jose Alva:

de Cruz Rios, and Mr. Campbell paid t e customary fees for the same. _

Deponent only recollects two or three instances of kidnapping, of which the Government

_Was informed previous to his departure from this Colony in 1828. When he returned

m 1829, the circumstances became more common; but owmg to the very severe sickness

which prevailed during that year, such active measures as were necessary to investigate the
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several reports which reached the Government,»cou1d not be taken. The different depart.

» ments, and especially the Secretary’s office, were very deficient. After the sickly season,

V - the reports relative to this system of kidnapping, became more frequent. Deponentwas

removed from the Colonial service at the latter end of 1829; but is aware, from private

information, that there is no diminution in the extent of that system. In 1830, the cases

became very notorious. The measures taken b the Present Government are well known.
These measures were the first serious notice en 0 the very alarming and very rapidly

win evil.
ngepgnent is aware, from rivate information. that it, is the practice of slaves taken from

the nei hbourhood of the Solon , to return to their native country; Thinks man of the

male agults return. Deponent means the inhabitants of the Sherbro, Pongas, an Nunez
countries. .

Deponent does not think that the women and children return. ' The women form con-

nexions here, which does away with their anxious desire of returning. .
Deponent recollects in 1824, a whole family who returned to their native country in the

Bight of Bereira. It is Deponent’s impression, that it is a fair calculation to allow that
g, (oneothird) of the male adults taken in the neighbourhood of this Colony, ado return to their

native country. . , ' '

Deponent thinks that the ‘children, by the many comforts they rocurem the Colony,
are weaned from the love of their country so predominant among the 'cans.

Deponent'has no'doubt that there is a very great trade carried on from this Colony to the
Sherbro, and an under trade from thence to the Gallinas. There is also a very great trade
carried on direct to the Gallinas. In 1824 there was a vast trade carried on to the Sherbro,
for rice and palm oil, by the Maroons, who contracted for the saggy of the liberated Africans
on pay of the Government. Since the latter end of 1826 or ' 'nning of 1827, the rice
rations to the liberated Africans were discontinued. and, as far as eponent has information,.,'
he is disposed to think there is no diminution in the trade. The rice trade was prinoipally‘
carried on by the Nova Scotian and Maroon Settlers. _

.It is Deponent’s impression that the chief trade is the Slave trade.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 20th February 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared Mr, James Findhy, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists

of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That in December 1830,he accom anied Mr. Benjamin
Campbell in His Majesty’s Brig “ Plumper,” to the Rio Pongas, by or er of the Lieutenantd
Governor, for the pur ose of apprehending a man named Jousifi'e. a Euro British subject,
accused of Slave de ing. When the Governor’s letter was opened by rmond, he sent for
Jousifi‘e. The answer returned was, that he was not at home. During the time of the
conversation with Ormond, he several times went out and appeared to be in consultation
with some persons outside. Deponent strongly suspects that Jousiffe was in the house at
the time. Deponent staid at Ormond’s two days. On the. way from Ormond’s, Deponent
advised Mr. Campbell to call at Jousifi‘e’s lace of residence; they proceeded thither, but
found the house locked up. They were inaned the slaves were sent into the country on
the day of their arrival. After caving Jousifi‘e’s place they proceeded to Brimah Nobas
Town, who told them of aliberated African bo named “ John,” whom Jousifi‘e was afraid to
sell because he spoke too ood En lish, and t at he kept him constantly inchains. Brimah
Noba informed Mr. Camp 11 and e nent, that Jousifl'e knew every thing that was going
on; that he was not in the country: t at Ormond had a great many liberated Africans in
his Slave yard, and that Saree Gaboo brought liberated Africans into the countr by sixes
and sevens at a time. He promised to use his influence, with the native ehie s to send
Jousifi'e up to Sierra Leone. He said he had not many liberated Africans himself, but that
3. 'rl named Hannah had run away from him. ‘
abet: De onent was about (100) a hundred yards from the beach he heard a cry; he

ordered the atmen to pull back, and he then saw a girl whom he took on board. This
girl was Hannah. She told Deponent she had only been a month in slavery, and that
she had been stolen by a Mandingo man from the market in Freetown, who had sold her.
Deponent brought her to Sierra Leone. ' '

 

Before,—The Iieutenant-Governor, the Chief Jastice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 23d February 1831.
Mr. Frederic]; Campbell having been recalled and duly re—sworn, states, That the name of

the man (American) mentioned in his evidence delivered before the Commissioners upon
the 2d February now instant, was Godfrey, who now lives at a town named Cassy, an inland
portof the Gallmas. That Deponent has heard that Mr. Gabbidon’s canoes do trade to the
Gallmas and Sherbro. ‘ ' ,,
Many persons who have died by accident, as drowning, Ste" or who'have committed‘ .

suicide, have been inserted in Deponent’s return of deaths. - Accidental deaths are more‘
common than natural deaths at the Bannanas. A few days ago one man was drowned. in
attempting to leave the island in a bad canoe. About November last a canoe was upset and
eight men drowned. ‘ ‘

In
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In a town on the Bannanas named Ricketts, there are not more than (12) twelve men,

who have women; there are (98) ninety-eight males. The women in the town of Dublin,
in which Deponent hves, areof the worst characters, mostly composed of persons who have
been servants in Freetown.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esqhire.

Government House, 23d February 1831 .

Pnnsouauv apfieared Aymar Charbomu'er, who being duly sworn upon the Holy
Evangelists of Almig ty God, deposeth and saith, That he was born at Senegal, and now
resides at Mary’s River Gambia. Has taken the oath of allegiance. That in the year 1829,
he met Jousifl'e in the Rio Pongas. Knew him before in the Gambia, as the servant of the
late Major-General Turner. » .
Defionent was in partnership with a Captain Lloyd, on a trading voya e to the Pongas.

On t e 5th February now instant, he saw Jousifi‘e in the Nunez. lge came on board

Deponent’s vessel to inquire for blue bafts. Deponent asked him what he was doing in
the river. Jousifi'e said, he heard the Governor had sent Mr. Campbell for him to brin

him to Sierra Leone to cut his throat: said he had lost all he was worth, as he was obligeg

to give it to the country people to protect him. Deponent said, he knew himself to be gui t .

Jousifi'e said, he knew that, that he considered himself no longer a British subject, but

looked qun himselfas a Soosoo. Said, that the Governor had got all his correspondence,

notes of and, Ste. and therefore he dare not go to his own country; the best way was to
stay among the Soosoos; said, he had the slaves to sell. Told Deponent he had come by
land. He asked Deponent to 've him a passage to the Rio Pongas, to which Deponent
consented. Jousifl'e then said, E“; was not fool enou h to do that, as the “ Plumper” was

outside, and he would give him up to that vessel. e would go by the path. The Plumper
was cruising outside.
 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Govemor, James Boyle, Esquire, and Hemy Rishton, Esquire,
Colonial Secretary.

Government House, 23d February 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared his Honour John William Jefcott, who being dulv sworn upon
the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he is Chiet‘ Justice of the

Colony of Sierra Leone, and Judge of the Court of Vice-Admiralt‘y thereof. Deponent’s

attention very soon after his arrival, was called to the subject 0 kidnapping hberated

Africans. Believes from his experience, since his arrival in the Colony, that this system

had prevailed to a very great extent, and for a very considerable period previous to his

anival. Many cases have come before Deponent in his judicial ca acity, within the last

ten months, and he has had occasion to pass sentence 1: on no less t an (13) thirteen indi-

viduals since the first sessions at which he presided in une 1830. Several against whom

strong suspicion existed, have been acquitted, either by the grand jury throwing out the

bills, or for want of suficient evidence at their trials, or have been discharged b procla-

mation by the King’s Advocate. Deponent thinks that at least (29) twenty-nine have
been disposed of in this way. and there are five or six still in gaol awaiting their trial.

Deponent does not speak positively as to the number discharged or who are m gaol; this

will appear more full from the return of the Clerk of the Crown transmitted herewith.
The persons who ave been proved to be principally enga ed in this traffic, are liberated

Africans themselves. Persons of this class are the origin kidnappers, the Mandingoes
from the Opposite shore are generally the receivers.
The first case, which was tried before Deponent, was that of Thomas Edward Cowan.

This person was a liberated African, and had been educated by the Church Missionaries,
in one of whose schools he was alleged to be a kind of teacher or monitor. The bo ,

George Lee, whom he stole, was also a liberated African, and had been a fellow scholar, ’

and also a pupil of his in the same school at Bathurst. Cowan was .proved to have in—
Veigled his former pupil into his service, under the pretence of provxding for him; he
(Cowan) being at that time a kind of petty trader. It was proved also that he put him into
a Mandingo canoe, stating that he was gomgto Wellington, instead of which he was taken.
over to the Bullom shore, where the prisoner deserted him, and he was made a slave of by
the Mandingoes. After passing through several hands, he was ultimately transferred to

a slave ship at the Rio Pongas, which having been captured by one of the cmizets, was
brought in here, and this boy a second time liberated. .

The next case which came before Deponent, ‘was that of‘ a man named hilly Grant, also
a liberated African, and Deponent believes a pensioner. This man havmg met a little
liberated African girl, who had a sore foot, he took her home with him to his_ house, under

pretence of curing it; and in the evening carried her to the watei: side, and disposed of her
to a Mandingo man for 31. The Mandingo man put her into his canoe, and was in the
act of rowing ofi‘, when aconstable, who had received information of the intended sale, and

who had seen the transaction from behind a bush, threw himself into the water, swam afiel-
the canoe, and in spite of the resistance of the men in it, rescued the girl, and brought her
safe on shore. The Mandin 0 men got off, but the constable afterwards succeeded in

apprehending the prisoner, w 0 was tned and convicted at the November Sessions in 13%);

364.
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This constable, whose name is Lucas, is also a liberated African, and Deponent felt it his
duty to express his approbation of this man’s conduct, and reward hint in Open Court.
So great a similarit exists in nearly all the cases of kidnapping, which have been

hitherto brought before eponent, that the history of one may serve for all. _'I_‘he person kid-

napped is enerally a child, or one who gives sonie eVident token of imbecility, and who is

therefore t ought an easy prey, or one recently liberated, bat not. havmg yet acquired the

English language, is less likely to betray the fact of he being a liberated African, or Sierra
Leone b0 .
Two czses were recently tried before Deponent, in which he had the satisfaction of assisting

in the restoration of the boys who had been kidnapped. Deponent alludes to the cases of
John Davis and King George. Deponent found these two liberated Africans on board

a French brigantine, which was boarded by the boats of His Majesty’sbn _“ Conflict,” in

which vessel Deponent had left this Colony, for the purpose of performing is duties at the
Gambia. Deponent was himself resent, when they stated that they were King’s boys,
who, with two others, had been 30le at the Rio Pongas to a Frenchman, and by him carried
away as slaves. The vessel in which these British subjects were found under such circum-
stances, was brought in by the advice of Deponent, in order that the boys, and those who
had sold them from the Colony, might be identified. Deponent took their examinations on
board the Conflict, on the night of their reca ture, and they had scarcely landed when
John Davis identified the man who had sold im, and he was committed for trial. The
person who had kidnapped the other boy, was shortly afterwards discovered, and both of
them were tried and convicted at the quarter sessions in November 1830. Thomas Black
was the name of one of the kidnappers, John Foodie was that of the other.

Thomas Black was himself a liberated African, a small trader who had acquired some
r0 rt .

P 1?}; Beponent believes John Foodie was also a liberated African.
The only two cases of persons convicted of Slave dealing since Deponent’s arrival, who

were not liberated Africans, are those of Samuel Wilson, and John Renner Ellis.

Samuel Wilson, Deponent understands, is an American Black, who came to this Colony
some years ago, and who by his industry was at one time in very comfortable circumstances.
In consequence, however, of pecuniary embarrassments, he was obliged to leave Freetown,
he betook himself to the Sherbro or Gallinas, where he induced four liberated Africans to
accompany him as servants. After availing himself of their labour, for sOme months, in
building his house and planting his farm, he sold them to one of the native chiefs. 0n the
circumstance being reported to Lieutenant-Govemor Findlay, he ordered Mr. Frederick
Campbell to proceed to the Sherbro, and use every effort to recover the men, and bring

Wilson to justice. Three of them were recovered, and Wilson was apprehended, and con-
victed at the Court of Royal Commission in November last.
With reference to the subject of the aid and assistance. said to be given to persons

en ged in the Slave trade by British subjects, persons of apparent respectability in this ,
Co ony, the followin facts have come under Deponent’s cognizance, in his capacity of
Judge in the Court 0 Vice-Admiralty.
On the 2d July last, a vessel called the “ Nossa Senhora de Guia,” was condemned in

the Vice-Admiralty Court, for being illegally fitted out in the harbour of Freetown, for the
urposes of the S ave trade. This vessel had been previously condemned in the Court of

R’Iixed Commissions, for having been engaged in the Slave trade. 0n the 4th June 1830,
she was purchased at public auction, as will appear by the account filed in the Vice-
Admiralty Court, for a Spaniard, named “ Salva dor Llorens,” by Mr. Thomas Harrison
Parker, 9. British merchant, residing at Freetown, and the stipendi olice magistrate.
Salva dor Llorens, the person for whom she had been purchased, hid Been mate of the
“ Conchita,” a Slave vessel, which had been captured by one of the squadron. After the
death of the master, he deposed that he took command of the Slave vessel, with her cargo
of slaves, and was brought in here. After the condemnation of his vessel, he remained
here, as appears b his evidence in the Vice-Admiralty Court, for three months ; he then
made his way to e Gallinas. a noted slave mart, and there he appears to have procured
from a Spaniard, named Pedro Blanca, one of the most notorious Slave dealers on the
coast, an order on Mr. Parker, for ($. 1,000) one thousand dollars; the second of exchange
having been found on his erson, when the Nossa Senhora de Guia was taken possession
of by order of the Court, With the proceeds of this bill of exchange. Mr. Parker purchased
the Nossa Senhora de Guia, for 1801. charging Llorens a commission of ten per cent.
There were found on board of her at the time of seizure, slave irons both for the neck and
lens, which must have been put on board subsequentlyto her first condemnation; the Marshal
of‘-the Court having sworn, that all reviously in her, had been by him carefully removed;
there were also on board near five thousand (5,000) allons of water. The place for which
she cleared out being the Havannah, with a crew of (27) twenty-seven persons, for whose
use, allowing the passage to occupy six weeks, thirty days being the usual time, one thou-
sand (1,000) gallons would have been amply sufficient. The vessel was condemned in the
Vice-Admiralt Court; Mr. Parker, in answer to the interrogatories put to him, having
admitted that e was an agent for Don Pedro Blancho, as far as having money of his in his
possession, and honouring his drafts, could be called agency. For this agency, and for.
aiding and assisting in fitting out a vessel for the Slave trade, Mr. Parker was indicted at
the sessions, under the Act 5th Geo. 4, c. 113. The grand 'ury found a true bill, but the
peatrtg' jury acquitted him for want of sufficient evidence. 'I e onl evidence brought for-
w against him was that of his own clerks. Deponent not t inking that the written
evidence given by and against himself in the Court of Vice-Adrniralty. admissible inl
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criminal proceedings. The evidence oftheclerks was in direct opposition to that ofMr. Parker,

as respected the agency and the value given for the bill of exchange.

In a written defence which Mr. Parker read to the Court and the Jury, he justified his

conduct, in the purchase and fitting out of the “ Nossa Senhora da Guia,” for a man who

is a notorious slave dealer, by referring to that of other merchants, who, he asserted, had

done so before him with im unity; and Deponent had every reason to believe that his

conduct proceeded as much rom ignorance of the legal consequences, as from any design to

infringe the law.

The second case was that of the schooner “ Admiral Owen,” of which John Smith,

merchant of the Colony, was owner. This vessel was also prosecuted under sec. 7, A.

5 Geo. 4, c. 1 13, and sentence pronounced on the 10th January 1831, for having sold to the

master of a slave vessel two guns, which were taken out of this harbour, without being

entered at the Custom House; and for conveying to that river the said master, and putting

those guns on board his vessel, well knowing the objects and purposes for which they were

about to be used.
Deponent condemned the owner Smith, and the master Benstead, to pay double the

value of the uns, and the costs of suit. Deponent understands that they have subsequently

been held to ail for thecriminal offence of aiding and assisting.

With respect to the statement made by me in my Charge to the Grand Jury, in June 1830,

that in the preceding year (1829,) one of the most fatal known in the Colony, the proportion

of births to deaths was as seven to one, I was induced to make that statement upon, as I

then thought, the best grounds, but I have since found that I laboured under a mis-

ap rehension.
It was either upon the day upon which the Quarter Sessions were held, or very shortly

before it, and when Deponent was much occupied by business, that he understood, either

from the Governor or from Mr. Thomas Cole, the Superintendant of the Liberated African

Department, that a census had been taken for the year 1829, from which it appears that the

births were, to each other, in the proportion Deponent mentioned. Acting upon this impres-

sion, Deponent made the statement referred to. Deponent has, however, since found that

the census alluded to was not for the ear 1829, but a partial census for 1827 or 1828, in

which the excess of births over deat s appears to be seventy—one in number, and not, as

Deponent imagined, seven to one in proportion. Deponent believes the document which led

him into this mistake will be found amongst the papers handed in by Mr. Thomas Cole.

 

Before,—-The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 3d March 1831.

PERSONALLY appeared John Same, Esquire, who being duly sworn upon the Holy Evan-

gelists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That the paper—writin , whereofa copy is here--

with annexed,"ll was brought to Deponent by a person named John mith, who stated that he

had picked it up in the street, and seeing it was in the hand-writing of Mr. Homell, he brought

it to Deponent. Deponent identifies Mr. Homell’s hand—writing. Deponent knows, from

evidence brou ht before him as Kin ’s Advocate, that Pedro Blancho is a notorioas slave-

dealer. The urkey red handkerchiefs, kettles and beads, mentioned in the said list, are

articles usually found on board slave vessels, as part of the cargo ; the price charged for the

headsis about (50) fift per cent. more than is charged in Freetown. Mr. Homell is a merchant

of the Island of Antigua, and Deponent believes now in partnership with Mr. Alexander

Rae, a merchant of this Colony.
 

Before,-—The Lieutenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 3d March 1831.

PERSONALLY ap cared Alexander Rae, Esquire, who being duly sworn upon the Holy

Evangelists of Alm1 hty God, deposeth and saith, That he knows the hand—writing of the

document mentione in the foregoing evidence. It is that of Mr. Homell. Deponent
18

‘ The following is a correct copy of the Paper above alluded to.

Pedro Blancho.
31:
February 18: 67 Cases Pres.

20 Bottles Pic.
63 lbs. Butter.
6 Barrels Bread.

20 Bottles Musta.
6% Baskets Oil.
1 Pair Boots.

141—31- doz. Turkey Red.
24 Kettles 71 lbs.
13;- Yards Diaper,
12 Cheeses 56 lbs.
1 Bottle Curry $.
13 Dozen Ale $4.
4o§ lbs. Beads 75 ct’.

19

$604. 0. 7-;-

364.
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is apartner with Mr. Homell. The vessel, the ‘f Ellen Montgomery,” was insured fol- a
voya 9 down the coast to Fernando P0, with hberty to touch at every trading lace.
Mr fiornell called at Liberia, and landed goods to the amount of 4001. No one is al owed

to sell at Liberia, unless the employ an agent from among those living on shore. Mr. Hillary

Teage was employed as am: agent. Mr. Homell took Teage on board, and wentfrom Liberia
to Cape Mount and the Gallinas. From thence he returned to Sierra Leone for more goods,
Deponent ex ecting a large assortment out from Englami. Mr, Teage made the whole of
the sales. 1‘. Homell is now gone on the same voyage Wlth the same description of goods’
namely, to Fernando P0, with liberty to touch at every trading lace. Deponent is not,
acquainted with the trade at the Galhnas, but, from report, he an erstands the Slave-trade
is carried on there.
 

Before,——The Lieutenant Governor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 3d March 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared Hannah, who being duly sworn ufpon the Holy Evangelists of

Almi hty God, deposeth and saith, That she is a li erated A rican. She was carried away
from iiissy to a place called Kakatura on the Bullom shore, by'Thomas Shower, a constable
of Kissy. Thomas Shower did not accompany Deponent to the above place. He gave her .
to some Mandingo men who carried her over. She was carried the next day to the Rio
Pongas, where she saw two liberated African boys.

 

Before,-—The Iieutenant—Govemor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 4th March 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared Mr. Maquis Smith, who being duly sworn upon the Holy Evan

elists of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he is Clerk of the Crown in this Colony.
That two persons only have been convicted ofslave-trading prior to the arrival of ChiefJustioe
Jefi'cott. These persons were convicted at the Quarter Sessions, held in September 1829.
Since the arrival of the Chief Justice, on the 26th April 1830, (14) fourteen have been con-
victed. Of these (10) ten were sentenced to hard labour in the House of Correction for five
years, and (4) four were sentenced to death, of whom the punishment has been commuted to
aid labour for (10) ten years, and the other three respited durin pleasure.
Cases in which (26) twenty-six persons have been concerned, ave been before the Police

Oflice. Eleven of these persons were sent to trial. Forty-five (45) persons have been
brought up for the ofl'ence since the month of April 1830, of whom eight (8) have not yet
been tried.
 

I Before,-—-The Lieutenant-Govemor, the Chief Jnstice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 4th March 1831.
John Sumo, Esquire, havin been recalled, and being duly re-sworn, further deposeth and

saith, That the paper produce on the fore oing day, was brought to De onent by Mr.‘ Smith
at his house, who stated that he had foung it, and told De onent that e had picked it up.
Deponent believes this Mr. Smith is a resident trader at ernando P0, in fact that he is an
English settler there. DePonent does not know how long Mr. Smith has resided in this
Colony. He has known him for many years tradin from the West Indies. He believes
Mr. Smith to be of the same rank in society and equal y respectable with other merchants on
this coast. Believes Mr. Smith first came to this country as the super 0 ofa laden vessel,
which Deponent understood belonged to Mr.Hornell; there is now a aw-suit de ending
against Mr. Smith on the Part of Mr. Homell. Deponent does not think he is at li rty to
say whether Mr. Smith’s interests are involved with Mr. Emerson’s, as it is a rofessional
uestion. Deponent is Mr. Smith’s professional adviser, and is now retained as is counsel.
eylilonent never had any personal dispute with Mr. Homell, of whom he knows little or

not ing. There is a prosecution instituted by Deponent, as King's Advocate. against
Mr. Smith, which is now pending. The Governor intimated his wishes that this prosecution
should be instituted against him. The “ Admiral Owen,” which belongs to Mr. Smith, has
also been proceeded aiainst in the Vice Admiralty Court. Deponent took such measures
against Mr. Smith as e conceived would bring him to justice. He took the usual proceed-
ings against him. The trial was put off, in con uence of the absence of a material wit-
ness. Mr. Smith is now out on bail to answer at e next sessions. Deponent thinks that
Mr. Smith supposes Mr. Homell is attempting to wrong him.

 

Before,—The Lieutenant-Governor, the ChiefJustice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

_ Government House, 4th March 1831.
PERSONALLY appeared Mr. John Smith. who being duly sworn upon the Holy Evangelism

of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That the paper-wnting brou ht to the witness, John
Samo,is the hand—wnting of Mr. Homell, and in the same state as w en-found by De nent.
That he found it on the table in Mr. Emerson’s house. Deponent thinks it was eft by
Mr. Teage, who had been paying some money to Mr. Emerson. Deponent is sgettlergf

ernan 0‘
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Fernando Po, bnt trades ee_casionalfi; to this Colon . He has been in Mr. Homell’s em loy.
There is an action depending on e part of r. Hornell against Deponent. Mr. thn
Sumo 1s Deponent’s professional adviser. Mr. Homell brought an action a 'nst Mr. Emer-
son. The cause of action arose from transactions between Mr.I-Iornell, r.Emerson and
this Deponent.
 

Before,—The Lientenant-Governor, the Chief Justice, and James Boyle, Esquire.

Government House, 11th March 1831.

Pnnsouuuaptfeared Mr. Michael Proctor,'who being dulyswom on the H01 Evangelists
of Almighty God, eposeth and saith, That he is a resident merchant of the sles de Loss,
where he has hved nearly twelve ears. Deponent has heard that the system of kidnapping

- liberated Africans, and carrying em to the Rio PonFas, has revailed. Deponent has not
heard of its being carried on to any great extent, unti within e last twelve months. Had
previously heard of a few instances. Deponent was in the Rio Pongas about four months
ago. Deponent had a co y of Chief Justice Jefi'cott’s Charge, and was reading it while at
the house of John Ormon , who is a notorious slave-dealer there. When Deponent came to

the passage about George Leigh, a liberated African, having been kidna ped by Cowan,
Ormond started up. and, with an oath, said to Jonsifl'e, an Englishman, and afso a slave-trader,

who was present, “ That is one of the boys whom we sent off, ’ mentioning a particular vessel,

the name of which Deponent does not recollect. Deponent put this Charge into the hands

of Ormond, and advised him and Jonsifl‘e to be cautious how they meddled with liberated
Africans. Ormond said, that numbers had been to his knowledge kidnapped, principally by

the Soomhia people, and those in the nei hbourhood of Sierra Leone. Deponent heard
about a month ago, that a liberated Africanioy had been offered for sale to the captain of a

French slave vessel, but that he (the ca tain) had refused purchasing him, in eons uence of

the ho speakinisuch good En lish. is circumstance took lace after the Frenc vessel,
“ La aroline,” ad been broug t in here for having liberated fricans on board.
Deponent has seen Jousifl'e latel ;—about a week a . Jousifl‘e told Deponent that he

was aware ofthe Governor of Sierra ne having sent r. Cam bell and Mr. James Findlay

to a prehend him. That he saw them while they were at the 'o Pongas, but they did not

see m. He also heard their conversation. He said that it was his intention to have come

down to Sierra Leone to stand any investigation, thinkin there was not sufficient evidence

against him, and that the only case which could be broug t forward was that of having pur-

c ased a man and woman of the Isles de Loss, whom it was his intention to have brought

down with him, and pretended that they were his servants, and that he had redeemed them

from slavery.
Havin heard, however, of the capture of the slave vessel “ Ninfa,” on board ofwhich his

letters, geponent understood. were found, he thought he would run too much risk. He

therefore made up his mind to buy up as many slaves as he could, and with them make his

escape in a French vessel, where the right of search was not permitted. At the time Depo-

nent saw him in the Nunez, Jousifi'e had brought over from the Rio Pongas (24) twenty-fonr
slaves, (10) ten of whom he had disposed of.
A circumstance of slave-dealing came under Deponent’s own knowlege a few months ago

at the Isles de Loss, and became the subject of investigation before Deponent, Mr. Pyne,

the Colonial Surveyor, and Mr. Boyle, the Colonial Surgeon, who had come down from Sierra

Leone upon this occasion. It appeared from the evrdence of three as that a man,

named Jem Saari, had kidnapped a man and woman from the Isles de ass, and sold them

in the Rio Pong‘as to Jousifi‘e. These were the man and woman to whom Jousifi‘e, in his

conversation above, alluded to. Deponent has seen the man since in the Rio Pongas.

The evidence against Saari was considered sufficiently strong to warrant his committal to
Freetown Gaol, wherehe now awaits his trial.

After the passing of the Abolition Act by Great Britain, the Slave-trade in the Rio Pongas

and Nunez was stopped for a considerable period, in conse uence of the great vigour exerted

on the part of the naval and military forces. Several expegitions had from time to time been

fitted out, and the towns of the slave dealers not unfrequently burnt down, so that an almost

total stop was put to it, until the year 1825. A vessel or two, prior to this period, might have

taken in a cargo; but the trade revailed to no extent. Subsequent to the year 1825, how-

ever, it has revived; and now ourishes as much, if not more than at any former period.
The trade has, in fact, gradually increased since the year 1825; and Deponent, from a com-

parison of his purchases of gold from the natives, has found that they had decreased in

exact roportion with the increase of the Slave-trade. Deponent is sure that the uantity of

of go] brought by the natives of the interior to the Rivers Nunez and Pongas uring the

last year (1830) dld not amount to (3; th) onefourth of the quantity brought down four or

five years a . . Whenever Deponent has asked the gold traders the reason of this annually '

increasing iminution, the reply has been, That slaves are much more easy of ac uisition,

and much more rofitahle than gold as an article of traflic, and that they can now 0 tain for

slaves what 3 the want.
The trade in the R10 Nunez has been carried on principally by French vessels, chiefly from

Martinique and Guadalou e. A considerable coasting and inland trade in slaves continues

with Bissoo; and canoes requently come from Bissoo with goods to buy the slaves, who are _
conveyed back through the creeks. .
The Slave-trade in the Pongas is still more extensive than in the Nunez. Deponent, has

frequently seen in the former river, French, Spanish and Brazilian vessels waiting for the

cargoes of slaves. -
364. v ‘ Deponent,
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Deponent is of Opinion that the reasonwhy the Slave-trade is not carried on as extensive]

in the Nunez as in the Pongas. arises from the circumstance of there being so many English

factories in the former river, the foreigners not liking to have their practices ex osed. De-

ponent is of o inion that vessels under the Freneh flag, claiming exemption rom search,

affords great acilities to slave-traders; and that, in conse hence of the security which they

feel, while under the cover ofthat flag, many adventurers of ifl‘erent nations have lately s run

up, who embark their slaves .in French bottoms ; and witness is of opinion that the rench

vessels which thus carry slaves in freight, complete their voyages at much less expense, and

in a much shorter time, than those of any other nation. _

‘ Deponent is of opinion, that during the‘five months preceding the month of November

1830, not- less than (1,800) one thousand eight hundred slaves have been shipped from the
two Rivers Nunez and Pon as.

Deponent has traded in t ese rivers, and spent much of his time there, for the last two

years. The information which he has given is therefore chiefly derived from personal obser-

vation. Since the month of November 1830, the following vessels have left with the under-

mentioned cargoes :

Schooner “ Matilda” - - - - - - — - 280, escaped.

" Ninfa” - - - - - - - - ' - - 187, captured

by the boats of His Majesty’s brig “ Conflict.”
French brigantine “ La Caroline,” detained, and sent to Goree for

havin liberated Africans on board - - - - - 57

“ La Lucil e” - - - - - - - - - 50

A Spanish schooner - - - - - - - - 180

making a total of (554) five hundred and fifty—four ersons.

There is now a large armed. brig under the Frenc flag (the tricolor), called the “ Amelia,”

the master of which has stated that he has made six successful voya es from the Nunez;
and that the one which he is now prosecuting will,» if successful, be t e twelfth from the
coast. He has stated, that he expects to take off (350) three hundred and fifty slaves.

Deponent saw Mr. Benstead, the master of the schooner “ Admiral Owen,’ belonging to

Mr. John Smith of Sierra Leone, in the Rio Pongas, he believes in December last. Benstead

told Deponent that he had come there with the‘master of the French brig “ Lucille,” and

some seamen; and that he had also brought two guns for the “ La Lucille,” for which

De nent understood him to saythe master had to pay ($ 140) one hundred and forty dollars,
an that (60 or 80S) sixty or eighty dollars were to be paid for the hire of the schooner.

The “ Lucille’s” cargo of slaves, Deponent understood to have been intercepted by another

slaver, the “ Ninfa,” while they were in the act of beincr conve ed on board her in canoes.

Deponent is the only European living on the Isles de oss. he island on which Deponent

resides is called “Crawfor ’s.-” The islands are entirely unprovided with defence, either

against the invasions of pirates or slaves. Deponent was made acquainted of a recent

instance of a Spanish slave schooner, during witness’ absence, landing her slave deck in

Factory Island, and procuring water, and a pilot for the Milicourie,where she went and

landed her cargo for the purchase of slaves. The mouth of the Malacary is not above (30)

thirty miles from Sierra Leone. It is not now within ourjurisdiction : it was formerly.
Slaves are transported from the Millicourie over land to the Rio Pongas. Thinks from

the great proximity of the Malacary to Sierra Leone, a considerable portion of the slaves so

transported must be liberated Africans. Is confirmed in that o inion from the conversation

which he had with Ormond at the Rio Pongas. Deponent elieves the reason why the

system of kidnapping has prevailed so much within the last (1 2) twelve months in the Pongas,

is the great increase of trade, and the greater demand for slaves. The canoes which trade

between Sierra Leone and the Rio Pongas, pass close to the Isles de Loss; and Deponent

believes that if a G0vemment force, however small, were stationed there, it would eatly

tend to check the transport of liberated Africans from this Colony, who, Deponenthas no

doubt, are often conveyed in such canoes to the Rio Pongas.

Deponent believes a gfeat deal of slave dealing is carried on at Bissoo. Deponent heard
from the captain of an American merchant vessel, while in the Rio Nunez, about a month

ago, that during his stay at the Bissoo (about two months and a half) he had seen not less
than five vessels with cargoes of slaves.

 

Before,——The Lieutenant—Govemor, the Chief Justice, and Jantes Boyle, Esquire;

Government House, 15th March 1831 .

PERSONALLY appeared Joseph Emerson, who being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists

of Almighty God, deposeth and saith, That he is aware there is a general system of slave

dealin carried on between Cape Mount and the Gallinas, and has no doubt there are persons

helongmg to this Colony who aid in it. Deponent was down the coast a short time ago;

whilst there he heard there was a schooner at the Gallinas. Deponent heard the schooner

belonged to Messrs. Rae 8r. Hornell.
Thls schooner had landed goods at Monsurado, and had proceeded from thence to the

Gallinas, whence she came to this Colony.

There is now at Cape Mount 9. person of the name of Douglas Gray, who was formerly

empged by this Government in the Colonial Pharmacy; there are also two others (Maroon8)

nam Charles Smith and J. W. Cope, the latter of whom was formerly wharfingercofi this
, o ony.
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Colony. It isvreported that these men are engaged in the Slave-trade. De nent cannot

say, from his own knowlege, whether this is true or not. De onent does not now in what

other trade than the Slave-trade they can be engaged. hey are cuts for the chiefs.

There is aiso an Endlishman, by name Cox, he has only one arm, :30 formerly held the

situation of writer at éape Coast. He resides near the Gallinas, and is notoriously known

to be engaged in the Slave-trade.
Deponent could 'have soid his cargo atthe Gallinas. but was afraid, from the circumstance

of legal investigations havmg taken place relative to such sales. British ships, coming from

England, always touch at the Gallinas, and sell-their goods for money and ivory.

 

-—No. 4.—

COPY of a DESPATCH from Viscount Goderich to Lie'utenant-Governor

Findlay, 8m. &c. &c.

SIR, Downing-street, 1 8th Jan. 1' 832.

I HAVE received your Despatch, dated on the 29th June last, enclosing a

Report of the Commission appointed under Sir G. Murray’s Instructions, to

inquire into the prevalence and extent of the practice of kidnapping liberated

Africans at Sierra Leone, together with the various papers enclosed in that

Despatch. - ,_

I need scarcely say, that the subject to which that communication relates, has

strongly arrested my attention; and notwithstanding the unexampled pressure of

public business, in which the Ministers of the Crown have been engaged since the.

receipt of that Despatch, I have thought it an indispensable duty to bestow all the

care in my power in the investigation of the many important questions which have

thus been presented to my notice. I proceed to communicate to you the results

of that inquiry.

lst. 'In Sir George Murray’s Despatch of the 26th of October 1830, is to be

found a recapitulation of the statements contained in Mr. Jefl‘cott’s Charge to the

Grand Jury. The results to which those statements came was, that the number of

liberated Africans in Sierra Leone would, but for the Slave-trade carried on there,

have amounted to 52,500 souls, including the progeny of that class of persons;

whereas, in fact, the entire number was not above 17 or 18,000; so that the

Whole loss exceeded 35,000. Mr. Jefl'cott did not, indeed, assert or suggest that

any such number had been actually carried off by the Slave-trade. His sate-

ment was, that the number of Africans liberated by the Courts of Admiralty and

Mixed Commission, amounted to 35,000.‘

Sir George Murray expressed his opinion, that the statement of the Judge on

this subject must be inaccurate, and he explained at length the grounds of his

distrust of them. It remains to consider how far the evidence justifies the

opinions of my Predecessor on the one hand, or the assertions of the Judge on

the other.
That the Slave-trade has been extensively carried on at Sierra Leone, is a

fact which the evidence has unhappily placed beyond the reach of controversy;

but the just indignation which every man must feel at the disclosure of such a

fact,must not be permitted to supersede that calm and dispassionate inquiry,

which is necessary in order to take a correct view of the evil, and to fOrm a clear

decision as to the practical measures necessary for its prevention in future.

It appears then by the Returns from the Liberated African Department, that

from the year 1808 to the 31st of May 1830, the number of liberated Africans

settled in the Colony, was 33,595. It further appears, that the total number

found in the Colony when the census of the 30th June 1830 was taken, was

23,888. The actual deficiency, therefore, was 9,707. Now supposing the

number of births and of deaths to have been precisely equal, the result would be

that the whole of this deficiency must be accounted for either on the supposition

that 9,707 had quitted the Colony voluntarily, or byassuming that they had been

removed from it by violence or fraud.

But in the Return made by Mr. Cole, to the Assistant Superintendant of libe-

rated Africans, I find the following passage; “1 do,however, feel confident in

stating from my own experience in the department, that one-fiith of the whole

number of liberated Africans settled in the Colony from 1 808 to the 30th Jmm

1830, as shown in the subjoined statement, have died; and that three-fourths of

the deaths (5,03%) occurred within the four first months after their arrival,

through the baneful diseases generated on board the slave vessels.” Mr.Cole,

364. therefore,
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therefore, allows for the decrease by death, 6,719, which reduces the entire
number unaccounted for, to 2,988. This calculation, however, supposes that
after allowing for the mortality occasioned by the diseases generated in the slave
ships, the remaining population did not produce a number of births exceeding
the number of deaths, but remained stationary.

Before I consider how far it is robable that this was the real result, I will
advert to such other evidence as I nd in these papers, respecting the mortality
which usually follows immediately upon the importation of a cargo of slaves.

Mr. Savage, a legal practitioner in the Colony, states, that the population has
decreased during the last seven years, from death as well as from other causes, to
which he refers. “ Among the old resident liberated Africans, the births,” he says,
“ are far more than the deaths; but among the whole liberated African population,
the deaths are no doubt considerably beyond the births. Deponent makes this
observation from his own experience, having been employed several times in
taking the census of the population.”

Mr. John M‘Cormack, a merchant, and Member of Council, states the fact of
the decrease of the population of liberated Africans ; and assi s as one of the
reasons for it, “ the wretched state in which they are when anded from the
slave ships.”

Mr. John Weeke, aschoolmaster at the town of Regent, is led, from a residence
of three years at that place, to infer that the births exceed the deaths very mate-
rially; but he also alludes to the “ deaths among the newly imported Africans as
diminishing this supposed rate of increase.”

Mr. Frederick Campbell expressed his opinion, that upon a population of about
5 or 600 at the Banana Islands, the births are in proportion to the deaths as
6 to I ; but this calculation refers to a collective population of which the liberated
Africans constitute only a part.

Such is the whole of the Evidence collected by the Commissioners, on the
subject of the efl'ect of the early mortality in reducing the total number of births
below the total number of deaths. It scarcely presents any contradiction. The
opinion of Mr. Weeke refers to the single settlement of Regent, and Mr. Campbell
speaks on] of a small body of ersons at the Bananas, many of whom do not
belong to t e class in question. be general statements of Messrs. Cole, Savage
and M‘Cormack, founded on extensive knowledge and experience, and assisted
by their oflicial means of knowledge, seem to justify the conclusion that the waste
of life produced amongst these people by their sufferings in the slave ships, is such
as to account for the loss of a large proportion of them.

Independently of positive testimony, the apparent reason of the case and all
experience in similar cases warrant the same inference. Nothin is more clearly
ascertained than that within the first three months from the lan ing of a cargo of
slaves in the West Indies, before the trade was abolished there, the loss by death
amounted very commonly to a very large proportion of the whole number.

Similar causes are now in operation in Sierra Leone, and must be expected to
yield corresponding results; and by a return from the Hospital at Kissy, I find
that of the 478 liberated Africans who were admitted into that institution during
the year 1829, 27! of that number had died.

- I have carefully examined the two Returns transmitted with this Report, in
order to ascertain what is the actual proportion of males and females amongst the
liberated Africans settled in the Colony. The result appears to be, that the,
males are to the females in the proportion of nearly 13 to 9. Mr. M‘Cormack
“ considers that the number of males bears a roportion to the females of 3 to l,
whic ” .he says, “ prevents an increase of births over deaths.”

Mr. Frederick Campbell in his second examination, stated that at a town named
Ricketts there are 98 males, and that among that number there are only 12 who
have women. I can glean nothing further from the evidence illustrative of the
proportions between the sexes; but here again I may observe, that the ordinary
course of the Slave-trade 'ustifies the supposition that in the ships brought to
Sierra Leone there would e a great preponderance of males, men being a better
article of traffic than women. Here, therefore, is another most material circum.
stance, which Mr. Jefl'cott overlooked in his Charge, and which serves to explain
the deficiency of the existing- population as compared with the numbers settled in
the Colony.
To determine the actual number of births and deaths since the year 1 808, by

any reference to the Population Returns, is unfortunately impracticable, it bging
vi ent
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evident that no such Returns have ever been made with even a plausible approach
to accuracy. I find it stated by Mr. Savage, that “ it is a custom amongst all
Africans to remove from the place where they are taken sick, in order to guard
against witchcraft,” which, he says, may account for “ the difficulty in ascertaining

the correct number of deaths.” He adds, “ that in order to perform the rites of
an African superstition called ‘ the Purrah,’ several thousands retire from the
Colony at certainperiodsf’ another circumstance, which, he says, may account
for the difficulty or total impossibility of taking a correct census. He adds, that
“ the small pox some few years back occasioned many deaths, and that the
number of those that died, he is of opinion, was never known.”
The Missionaries, Messrs. Stohar, Morgan and Knightly, concur in representing

the inadequacy of the Registries to furnish any just conclusion as to the com-
arative number of births and deaths. The Chief Justice, Mr. Jefi'cott himself, in

his Evidence, admits himself to have committed, in the Charge which he delivered

to the Grand Jury, and subsequently published, more than one very important
mistake on the subject of the Population Returns. .
He confounded a partial census for 1827 or 1828 (he has nct even yet ascer-

tained its real date) with a complete census for 1829. In theicensus so quoted,
the births exceed the deaths by the number 71. Hearing this fact, either from
the Governor or from Mr. Cole, the Chief Justice understood his informant to

say, and quoted him from the Bench, as having said, that the births were in pro-
portion to the deaths as seven to (me. '

I lay the census to which Mr. Jefi'cott referred, out of the account alto ether,

being convinced by the testimony already quoted, of the incorrectness of such

Returns. But I cannot altogether pass without comment, the singular fact that

the Chief Justice of the Colony should have thus quoted from the Bench, Returns,

which it now appears, he had never seen; and that he should, upon any oral

authority whatever, have hazarded so incredible an assertion, as that amongst the

liberated Africans of Sierra Leone the rate of natural increase above that of mor-

tality was of an amount so extraordinary as seven to one.
In accounting for the actual deficiency of 9,707 souls, there are yet other facts

to be noticed in the depositions of the Witnesses, of which Mr. Jefl‘cott at the
time of delivering his Charge, was manifestly ignorant. .

I have already quoted from the evidence of Mr. Savage, one statement of the

motives which induce voluntary emigrations from the Colony. The depositions

are not wanting in other proofs and illustrations of the same fact. Thus,

Mr. M‘Cormack states, “ that many of the apprentices run away from their

masters and mistresses in consequence of harsh treatment; and many, rather than

go back to them, and for fear, would allow themselves to be carried to any place

voluntarily, even to be made slaves of again.”
Mr. W. W. Lewis, the Registrar to the Courts of Mixed Commission “ is aware,

from private information, ' that it is the practice of slaves taken from the neighbour-

hood of the Colony, to return to their native country ;" thinks man of the male

adults return. It is his impression, that it is a fair calculation to low that one-

third of the male adults taken in the neighbourhood of this Colony, do return to

their native country.”
Mr.M‘Cormack expresses his opinion that liberated Africans who have been

taken in the wars amongst the various tribes .adjacent to Sierra Leone, “ and who

have not been sold for slaves for any crime, on their emancipation universally,

voluntarily, return to their native country. Of these there are great numbers.
Several have returned with the sanction of the Government.” He then evidences
a particular case of certain liberated Traders in Gold, all of whom it appears had
returned to their native country.

In the samernanner Mr. Cole has stated, that “ in cases where liberated Africans
have applied for leave to return to their own country, or where the Chiefs have

applied for such leave for them, they have been allowed to return.” “ Within the
last four years, probably 800 of the Cupo nation have been imported from the
windward, and of these, possibly, 250 may have returned to their country.

Let the various circumstances to which I have thus adverted, be combined

together. Allow for 'the rapid mortality consequent upon the diseases engen-

dered, and the sufferings endured in t e slave ships; for the disproportion of

sexes; and for voluntary returns of the Africans to their native country, whether

from the natural love of home or to escape from ill-usage; and much of the diffi-

'culty disappears of accounting for the deficiency of 9,707 souls upon a period of
23
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23 years, upon a population of 33,595. Mr. Jefl'cott’s Charge to the Grand Jury,
therefore, when thus brought to the test of sober inquiry and calculation, must,
I fear, be considered as highly exaggerated ; and I cannot but fear, that, owing
to his short acquaintance with the Colony, he has been induced to give his official
sanction to the publication of statements Which are not to be depended upon as
correct.

Sir George Murray appears, in the Despatch to which I have referred, to have
anticipated some other circumstances Which the investigation has brought to light.
Thus it appears that a large number of the liberated Africans have entered 1s
Majesty’s service, either as soldiers or sailors, and that others have been sent to
the Settlements at the Gambia, the- Isles de Loss and Ascension. These, how.
ever, are not included in the body comprising 33,595 people, to whom the pre-
ceding remarks refer.

But while I regret, as altogether exaggerated, the conclusions drawn by
Mr. Jefi‘cott in his Charge to the Grand Jury, l have learned, with the deepest
concern, that the existence of a Slave-trade, supplied by the liberated Africans,
and carried on systematically, cannot admit of any reasonable doubt. It is impos-
sible to ascertain its actual amount with any approach to accuracy. The state-
ments of the best-informed witnesses are merely conjectura]; and I shall not
attempt the hopeless and, indeed, the unnecessary task of determining a fact
which they have left in much obscurity; I rather turn to the consideration of
those circumstances upon which some practical suggestions for the future pre-
vention of this alarming system may be founded.

2dly. Then it appears from the evidence of Mr. Campbell, that there were nume-
rous Slave factories, belonging to Ormond, Jousifl'e and others, on the Rio Pongas,
established, as it should seem, for this express purpose. Mr. Jackson mentions
three Englishmen, who are settled at the Gallinas, and living amongst the native
Slave dealers of that place; and he states, that there are many others there with
no visible object except that of carrying on this trade. Mr. Hook, Collector of
Customs, has stated that a very extensive trade is carried on, by means of boats
and canoes, with the Gallinas, where the Slave traders supply the specie employed
in that commerce.

From the evidence of Mr. Frederick Campbell, it appears that the Sierra Leone
people are in the habit of selling goods at the Gallinas, receiving in return
doubloons and dollars, which the traders of that place receive from Spanish slave
ships in return for slaves, and especially for liberated Africans. Mr. W. B. Pratt
has explained, in detail, the manner in which the trade in these persons was
carried on, under his own observation, on the rivers. In the evidence of Robert
Stone, the same fact is mentioned, with the addition, that many of the liberated
Africans themselves can on a suspicious trade along the rivers in canoes.
Mr. Michael Proctor expiained how the Slave-trade was formerly stopped on the
Rivers Pongas and Nunez still the year 1825, by the activity of the naval and
military forces. He attributes its subsequent revival on those streams to the
diminished activity of those forces; and he has explained the extraordinary facilities
given to slave trading by the freedom from search claimed for vessels lying,
under the French flag, both in the Pongas and the Nunez.

I have communicated to Viscount Palmerston a copy of this part of Mr. Proctor’s
Evidence, in order that his Lordship may bring under the notice of the French
Government the scandalous abuse of the flag of that nation, in contempt of its laws,
and of the wishes of the Government and people of France; and I entertain a
confident expectation that the Convention lately concluded with that Power, by
which the right of search, under certain restrictions, is conceded, will have a most
important e ect in repressing the further prosecution of this disgraceful traflic.

I have also communicated to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty the
result of the Evidence as to the prevalence of this trade on the Rivers Pongas and
Nunez; and have suggested to their Lordships the propriety of employing a few
armed boats or schooners upon those rivers, in order to visit the Slave factories,
and arrest the slave-trading canoes and other small craft, in which the trade is
carried on there.

It remains that I should instruct you to consider the practicability of establishing
a floating Police on the river where this trade is most actively carried on, which,
I should apprehend, might be effected with great advantage, and at a small
expense, by employing boats manned with liberated Africans, under the
command of some of the most trust-worthy of their own class. A small body}

0
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of men, judiciously selected for this purpose, would probably intercept and capture

a large proportion of the canoes employed in carrying away the King’s subjects

into slavery. '

The proceedings of the Slave Traders at the Gallinas might thus be interrupted;

but so long as they are continued, measures must be taken for preventing the resort

of Sierra Leone Merchants to that place, and its supply with articles of commerce.

from the Colony. It appears evident, then, an immediate though indirect encou-

ragement is given to the Slave Traders by all the commercial operations between

Sierra Leone and the Gallinas; and that the intercourse carried on with that place

has no other basis than the supply of articles required for foreign dealers in

Slaves. This is an evil of so serious a character, that it may well be arrested

even at the expense of an absolute interdict, for a short time, of all communication

with the Gallinas, and of the transmission of goods thither. A similar prohibition

would seem necessary in reference to any other part of the coast, to which the trade

now prevailing at the Gallinas might be transferred. You will consult the Council

of Sierra Leone as to the propriety of enacting a law to render such prohibition
effectual.

3dly. I find from the Evidence of Mr. Savage, that during Sir Charles M‘Carthy’s
Government he (Savage) was sent to the Sherbro with a military force, and

recovered no less than 1 15 liberated Africans. He is of opinion that from 400 to

500 might now be recovered by a secret mission to the Mandingo country, con-

ducted by a person possessing loyal information, and a knowledge of the native
languages. Mr. Pratt states, that about a month or three weeks before giving his

Evidence, he had gone on a mission to Fouricaria, by your order, to claim the

restoration of several liberated Africans, who were stated to be kept in slavery

there. The effect of this visit seems, however, rather to have been that of giving

Mr. Pratt an insight into the proceedings of the Slave Traders in the rivers, than

that of redeeming the kidnapped people from their new slavery. If I rightly
understand him, he succeeded in recovering only one.

The suggestion of Mr. Savage, founded, as it is, upon an experiment which

proved so eminently successful, would seem to merit careful attention. How far
it would really be practicable to repeat Sir Charles M‘Carthy’s measure with a

reasonable hope of similar results, is a question to the solution of which more
minute local information than Ipossess is necessary; but unless there be some

obstacle of which I am not apprized, forbidding the attempt, it ought, I think, to

be made. It is of the utmost importance to impress the Native Powers in the

vicinity of Sierra Leone, with a conviction that the British Government is not

indifferent to the fate of their subjects, but will use every practicable method for
asserting their liberty. \

5thly. In the Evidence already quoted, numerous proofs occur of the prevalence
of the custom of sending back from Sierra Leone to the native country the liberated

Africans belonging to the Mandin oes and other adjacent natives. Mr. Savage,
in reference to this subject, states t at the Jaloofs, Bassas and others, are induced

by their countr people to return home with them, and he supposes that upon their
- return, “ A pal'aver would be brought against them ;” and that, according to the
usages of their country, they would be resold into slavery, on the principle that
their title to freedom was for ever destroyed by the circumstance of their having
been once in slavery.
As it would be impracticable, so I know not whether it would be desirable to

detain in the Colony any of the liberated Africans who might be disposed to
return to their own country. Indeed if there were a reasonable security for their
safety on their return, I know not what more simple or convenient method of
disposing of them could be adopted. It is, however, necessary that every possible
attempt should be made to induce the native tribes to abandon their absurd custom,

which Mr. Savage has explained, and to permit a‘rescued slave to enjoy the
freedom which his capture by the British cruisers had obtained for him. Until
some reasonable assurance can be obtained of the abolition of their practice, the
liberated Africans should not be sent back, nor even permitted to return without
a distinct intimation of the danger they will incur.

6thly. Ifind, in the Evidence of Mr. Savage, a remark on the great benefit
which would have resulted in the suppression of the Slave-trade, from retaining

364. the
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the soverei of the Sherbro’, and in the establishment of a factory there. In

that opiniogthtgis confirmed by Mr. M‘Cormack; and in thevadence of Mr. Lewis

I find it stated, that thetrade from Sierra Leone to the Sherbro 18 very extensive,

and is chiefly intended for the supply of the Slave Traders at the Gallmas. The

establishment of a factory, and the extensiqn of British sovereignty to the Sherbro‘,

would entail an expense which I am not disposed to sanction, Without more accu.

rate information on the advantages to be denved from such a Ineasure. I am
aware that the subject is not now for the first time brought under discussion, as the
project has been entertained by former Governors of Sierra Leone; but I never-

theless desire to learn your sentiments upon 1t, and the means which you would

propose for carrying it into efi‘ect.

7thly. I find many of the Witnesses concurring in the opinion, that the want of

profitable labour in the Colony, consequent upon the abandonment of different

public works, has driven many of the liberated Africans to engage in the'business
of kidnapping each other, as the only available means of earning a‘subsistence.
Mr. Savage thinks that some of them are induced to go to the Gallinas 1n quest
ofwork, and that when there they are seized and sold as slaves. While Government
works were going on, he thinks they had an inducement to remain in their settle-
ments. The Government allowances having been Withdrawn of late, within
a much shorter period than heretofore, Mr. Savage finds in that circumstance a
further explanation of the illicit practices by which some 9f the Africans have
attempted to earn their living. Mr. M‘Cormack concurs In this opinion, and
thinks, that from the shortening of the term during which the Africans were for.
merly supported, many of them are compelled to wander about in quest of sub-
sistence, and thus fall a prey to the kidnappers by whom the country is infested.
He attributes, however, the running away ofmany of the Apprentices to the cruel
usage of their masters. Mr. Lake gives the same explanation of the effect of the
discontinuance of public works, and he is confirmed by Mr. W. Cole. In the
Evidence of the last-mentioned gentleman, I find a passage relating to the nation
called the Cupoos, which seems to me highly important. He states it to be the
universal habit of these people to return to their own country; and observes that
“ they are all agriculturists, and there is not sufficient land in the Colony for them
“ to cultivate.”

I can scarcely su pose Mr. William Cole’s meaning to be, that there is not in
the Colony of Sierra eone, a sufficient quantity of land capable ‘of cultivation, to
maintain the whole existing body of inhabitants ; for on comparing the extent of
the country with their numbers, such a fact would imply a most singular and
improbable sterility in the soil. I have reason, however, to believe, that the
greater part of the land commodiously situated for the purposes of the liberated
Africans, is already under cultivation, and that there is little remaining except the
lands lying to the east of the Peninsula between the River Sierra Leone and
Kates River. The Secretary of State has already taken'measures for removing to
the Gambia a portion of the liberated Africans; and it will be a matter for future
consideration whether it may not be expedient to provide for any future bodies of
Slaves who may be liberated, by sending them to some new quarter. It may
readily be believed and admitted, that as the expenditure on public works in
the Colony is diminished, the labouring class must sustain in some cases a reduc-
tion, and in others a total loss of their means of subsistence. From these facts,
I do not infer that the public works were improperly discontinued, or that they
ought now to be resumed. Such undertakings should be limited by a careful
estimate of the amount of Revenue which can be permanently assigned for their
support; otherwise the temporary relief afforded by this artificial stimulus is
much more than compensated by the distress consequent upon the return to a
more frugal system. The only safe method of finding employment for great
bodies of people, is that of exploring resources which do not depend on the flu :-
'tuations of caste or the changes in national policy. Of those resources, Agriv
culture is on every account the safest and the best. I would earnestly impress
upon you the necessity of affording these people every possible facility for culti-
vating the soil ; for certainly it is no just matter of surprize if many of them are
thrown into evil courses when destitute of profitable employment or eleemosynary
support. The imputed cruelties of masters towards their apprentices, should be
repressed by an active enforcement of the existing law.

8thly.
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8thly. In the Deposition of Mr. Sava e, it is stated, that a number of idle boys

who run away from their villages, orw 0 have esca ed from gaol, are picked up

by the Mandingoes. On the same subject Mr. M‘ ormack remarks, that these

boys prowl about the banks of the River, from which they are seduced by fair

promises, to the native towns where they are seized as Slaves. Mr. Cole states,

that the liberated Africans carried away, are principally children or slaves,

Mr. Pratt has stated the case of an infant about a year old, being stolen from the

Colony. In the deposition of MrJefl‘cott I find it stated, that the person kid-

napped is generally a child, or one who gives evident signs of imbecility.

The inference from these statements is, that the children of the Colony in

general are not subject to that strict discipline which at their age it is on every

account so desirable to enforce ‘; but excepting parents be alive to the danger of

leaving them at large in this manner, it seems diflieult to provide against an evil

of this kind.

9thly. Ignorance of the English language is assigned by some of the Witnesses

as a circumstance which exposes the liberated Africans to the danger of being

kidnapped. This is noticed by Mr. Pratt, in reference to a man who was stolen

from Freetown, and by Mr. Findlay, in reference to the boy named John. Such

a statement evidently suggests the great importance of imparting the knowledge

with the utmost promptitude to the captured Slaves. Mr. Cole, indeed, states

the very extraordinary fact, that the persons principally employed in kidnapping

are those who have had the advantage of a Missionary education ; a statement so

» singular and improbable, as to demand the most complete proof. Mr. Cole has

'ofi‘ered none.

10thly. In the Evidence of Mr. Duncan Noble it is asserted, that many of the

Foulahs and Mandingoes have resided in the Colony for months, and some of

them for years, and subsist by the practice of kidnapping. If any such persons

can be pointed out, their immediate removal from the Colony is a measure of

evident necessity.

ilthly. I perceive that Mr. Colethinks that the liberated Africans are carried

away in the night-time from the landing places. I should suppose that this abuse,

if Mr. Cole be correct, might be very materially checked by placing watchmen at

those stations.

12thly. The sale of condemned Slave-trading ships in the Colony, is noticed

by several of the Witnesses, as affording great facility to the trade. This is

stated by Mr. Noble. Mr. Hook, Mr.Smith, the Commissioners of Arbitration,

and by Mr. Cole. Upon this subject I have requested Lord Palmerston and the

Lords Commissioners of the Treasury to take such measures as may most effec-

tually diminish this temptation to the commission of the offence.

13thly. The accumulation of proofs of the extraordinary activity of Suree

Gaboo in this traffic, indicate the necessity of bringing that person, if possible,

to justice.

14thly, I find in these papers no allusion to any attempt for negociating with

the Native Chiefs in the neighbourhood of the Colony, for the voluntary abandon-

ment of this trade. Such treaties were made with very good effect with Radama,

thevlate king of a large district in Madagascar, and with the Imaun of Muscat.

Difficulties, I am aware, may arise on the Western Coast of Africa, which did not

occur on the Eastern side of that Coatinent. It is, however, proper that the

experiment should be made as favourable opportunities may offer.

15thly. Another simple and efl‘ectual measure ofpreventionwould be, the holding *

0f musters of all the liberated Africans in their different towns and villages, at

stated intervals. Once for example in each quarter, or perhaps even more fre-

quently. This is a regulation which might be established and enforced without

any difficulty, and you will immediately take the necessary measures for carrying it

into effect. The result will inevitably be, to furnish the Local Government with

the most early and authentic intelligence of any diminution in the number of the

'lIi‘beaated Africans, which may be occasioned by the operations of the Slave

ra ers. '

6thly. An additional precaution of great importance will he found, in esta-

364. - blishing
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blishing by law a complete Annual Census of all the Inhabitants of the Colony;
distinguishing of course the liberated Africans from other _classes.

It should be required that every birth and death occurring among them, should
be reported to the Managers of the different Settlements, or to the Authorities of
Freetown, by whom the Returns should be transmitted to the Assistant Super-
intendant of liberated Africans, who again should be bound to make periodical
Reports on the subject to the Colonial Secretary, for your information. You will
immediately adopt the necessary measures for procuring the concurrence of the
Council in the promulgation of a law, to be framed in such a manner as may give
full effect to this instruction.

l7thly. The efl'ect of the African Superstitions in concealing the deaths of many
of these people, and in inducing them to move in large bodies beyond the limits
of the Colony, for the performance of certain rites, has been already noticed._
Those superstitions will yield to the benign influence of Christianity, but may
otherwise probably be regarded as invincible. If any new motive were wanting
to stimulate the wish of His Majesty’s Government for the diffusion of Christian
knowledge amongst this body of people, that motive would be found in the inti-
mate connection which subsists in their case between the errors of Heathenism
and the extension of the Slave-trade. I cannot therefore too earnestly recom-
mend to your support and countenance, not only the Clergy of the Established
Church, but the various Missionaries whom the zeal of difierent classes of Chris-
tians in this country has engaged, and is now supporting in the work of con-
verting and instructing the liberated Africans. You will encourage their efforts
by all personal kindness and attention which it may be in your power to bestow.
You will at all times be ready to aid them by your counsels, without of course
assuming any spiritual authority over them; and if instances should occur of
those infirmities of temper and judgment to which, in common with all other men,
they must be subject, you will, I am persuaded, feel that kindness and forbearance
are better calculated than any other methods, to correct those errors which may
be found in alliance with honest zeal and upright intentions. Although it is far
from my purpose to attribute to you, any improper conduct or demeanor towards
the various Missionaries in Sierra Leone, yet it has not escaped my attention that
you appear to regard them with a degree of distrust, if not of suspicion, which is
eminently unfavourable to the growth of those kind and amiable relations which
ought to subsist between them and the Governor of the Colony. It is on that
account that I have thought it right to press the preceding remarks on your
attention.

18th. I have observed with equal surprize and regret, the circumstances stated
in the Evidence of Mr. Samo and Mr. Rae, tending to connect Mr. Hornett of
Antigua with the Slave-trade, which has been carried on at Sierra Leone. I shall
communicate with the Governor of Antigua on the subject; and you will of
course follow up the inquiry, as it affects Mr. Hornett’s agents, with all possible
activity.

19th. I have searched these papers with great anxiety to discover how far
they warrant the representation made by the Chief Justice in his Charge ;—that
persons of substance and consideration in the Colony had been implicated in the
disgraceful conduct of the Slave Traders. On that subject I collect from the
whole Evidence, that the chief agents in the trade are the liberated Africans
themselves. “ Persons of this class,” says Mr. Jeffcott in his deposition, “ are
the original kidnappers. The Mandingoes from the opposite shore are generally
the receivers.” All the specific cases which have been brought to trial, or whic
private activity has traced out, confirm this general conclusion. The only persons
belonging in any sense to the higher class of society, who appear to have been
charged with this offence, are Mr. Hornett, already mentioned, and Mr. Parker, a
British merchant and stipendiary Magistrate at Freetown. Mr. Parker’s ofi'ence
seems to have consisted in having purchased a condemned Slave ship, which, being
shortly afterwards found fitted out anew for the Slave-trade, was again seized, and
condemned. For having so fitted out this vessel, Parker was tried and acquitted.
The Judge seems to have had a moral persuasion of Parker’s guilt in this
instance, although he thought that there was an insuperable defect in the legal
evidence. In Parker’s defence, lie is said to have urged, that other merchant:

a
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had previously done with impunity, acts precisely similar to that for which he was

indicted. A Mr. John Smith, who is also described as a merchant of Sierra

Leone, was prosecuted for having sold two guns to the master of a Slave vessel,

and for having put the guns on board, with a guilty knowledge of the illegal pur-

pose for which it was intended to use them. Smith and the Master of the vessel

seem to have been subjected to a penalty, and are still about to answer to an

indictment for having thus aided in the Slave-trade. In addition to these cases,

I find allusions made to a gentleman who was formerly a Member of Council of

the Colony, but is now dead. It is rather suggested than distinctly alleged, that

upon two boys in his service being kidnapped, he was guilty of total inattention

to the subject, as well as to other representations made to him by Mr. Benjamin

Campbell, respecting the prevalence of the Slave-trade at Sierra Leone. In a

person holding such a rank in the Colonial Government, and who had occasionally

been in its temporary administration, such remissness as this, if adequately sub-

stantiated, would call for the most severe censure, and would even justify the most

painful suspicions. But, considering that the gentleman in question did not live

to hear the imputation thus made against his character; and adverting to the very

ambiguous and indistinct terms in which it was at last conveyed; and bearing in

mind the inherent improbability of the charge, I should not feel myselfjustified in

the employment of any language which could be fairly construed into a reflection

on that gentleman’s memory.

Adverting to the general terms in which, in his Charge to the Grand Jury,

Mr. Jefi‘cott denounced as participators in the Slave-trade, resident merchants and

others, called or calling themselves respectable ;—

I cannot think that the Evidence faintly justifies the imputation. The cases of

Parker and Smith are the only instances .in which persons above the very lowest

rank in life, are proved to have assisted in the Slave-trade in any manner what-

ever. Assuming, that notwithstanding the verdict of Not guilty, Parker was, as

the Judge supposes, really concerned in fitting out a ship at Sierra Leone for a

Slave-trading voyage, it would be difficult to reprobate his conduct too strongly.

Smith’s sale of two guns to a Slave-trader, knowing how they were to be employed,

is also an act meriting reprobation and punishment ; but it is due to the society

at large to say, that I find no proof of that general or systematic co—operation of

the higher classes in the Slave-trade, which Mr. Jeffcott’s original statement had

led me to apprehend.

20th. Throughout these Depositions numerous statements occur tending to

impeach or to acquit former Governors of the Colony of negligence on the subject

of the Slave-trade. The result is to satisfy me, that there is no serious ground

for so grave an imputation. Thus, for example,I find from the Evidence of

Mr. Savage, that Sir Charles M‘Carthy on one occasion recovered no less than

115 of these people. He is said to have taken great interest in the subject.

Mr.Savage knew of no instance of the neglect of any representation made to

former Governments respecting the Slave-trade. He thought that their inaction

was to be accounted for by the short tenure of office, and consequent ignorance

of preceding Governors. Mr. Savage refers to cases in which Sir Neil Campbell

and General Turner made great and Successful efforts for the rescue of kidnapped

people. Mr. M‘Cormack has also borne testimony to the zeal of Sir Neil

Campbell. Mr.Lake has explained how the increase of Slave-trading is to be

accounted for, without attributing any apathy on the subject to former Governors.

Mr. Hook mentions the absence of prosecutions under former Governments, but

advances no explanation of that fact. The narrative of Mr. Cole proves, that the

number of Africans rescued by yourself, is about 25, a very gratifying result; but

neither exceeding nor even equalling the success of the exertions of Sir Charles

Neil Campbell or Sir Charles M‘Carthy. It is due to the memory of the very

able officers, who have served the King, to the sacrifice of their own lives at

Sierra Leone, thatI should distinctly avow my conviction, that the Evidence

taken on this inquiry, leaves their reputation free from reproach; and that their

zeal for the suppression of the Slave-trade, may without injustice be brought into

' comparison even with that which you have yourself so laudably manifested.

Mr. Jeflhott‘s Charge was certainly calculated to produce a very different

impression.
364. ' The
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The great importance of the subject to which this Despatch refers, has induced

me thus minutely to review the whole of the Evidence which you have transmitted.

To yourself, for the zeal which you have manifested on this occasion—to the Chief

Justice, for his promptitude in exposing this scandalous system—and for his un- -

wearied activity in the repression of it-—-and to the gentlemen who constituted the

Commission of Inquiry—I have to tender the sincere acknowledgments and thanks

of His Majesty’s Government. These acknowledgments are not the less freely or

cordially made, because Ihave the misfortune to differ with yourself and Mr. Jefi‘cott

as to the ' propriety of giving to the public at large, at the commencement of this

discussion, 3. Charge to the Grand Jury, which, in some important respects,

appears to have been greatly exaggerated. I am little disposed to weigh with

scrupulous nicety, language dictated by an honest indignation against crimes of the

deepest turpitude, and most injurious to the national honour and reputation; nor

shall I detract from the merit of faithful services on such an occasion, by too

narrow an examination into any minor indiscretion by which they may have been

accompanied.
‘ .

I In conclusion, I have to impress with the utmost earnestness on your attention,

the various Instructions contained in this Despatch, and I shall anxiously expect

from you a full and minute Report upon each of them.

I am, &c.

(signed) Goderich.
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